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Financial Highlights

B 75478 &

2011 2010 %
—E——F —E-FF Increase/
US$'million US$'million (Decrease)
BEER AEXETT ¥ (R)
Operating Results KR
Revenue U %5 95.8 93.5 2.5
EBITDA BB - BiE - FrER
AR A 1.2 2.7 (55.6)
Operating profit before investment GBS NEHER
gains and restructuring costs B 7 8855 F) 2.3 3.2 (28.1)
Profit for the year FEHA 0.6 5.9 (89.8)
Financial Position B iRR
Total assets BEME 52.3 61.1 (14.4)
Cash reserves B4 G 17.5 21.0 (16.7)
Net assets BEFE 36.7 41.1 (10.7)
Financial Ratio B 7S H &
Current ratio (Times) TRENE R (f2) 1.8 1.8 -
Gearing ratio (%) B AR B E LK (%) - - N/A T3
Dividends [ds)
Interim dividend per share (HK cent) FRE A BARL B (BAL) 0.31 0.75 (58.7)
Final dividend per share (HK cent) IR EAR B (BAL) - 0.75 N/A i@ A
Special dividend per share (HK cents) A% 4F RIS B (B (L) - 6.00 N/A N A
Full year dividend per share (HK cents) &2 FME (BL) 0.31 7.50 (95.9)
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Statement of Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

ETERITHABREES

To cope with the challenging environment during
the year under review, we continue to take a
proactive approach towards maintaining and
strengthening ties with our existing customers
while at the same time forging new relationships.

RTENEEFEARRRENRE  FEE#
BREER EERNRERAEFNERZE
(SRR e AV e
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On behalf of the board of directors ("Board"), | present the results of Linmark Group
Limited ("Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the "Group” or “Linmark") for the
year ended 30 April 2011.

During the reporting year, we continued to be hampered by a lacklustre business
environment that saw shipment value decline, though we are pleased to note that
revenue increased modestly over the preceding year. The challenging conditions have
highlighted the need to continue taking a proactive approach towards maintaining
and strengthening ties with our existing customers while at the same time forging
new relationships.
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Statement of Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
T RFRITHEHREE

Over the past year, we sought creative means of delivering more value added
services, offering a greater breadth of expertise to better cater for customers needs
while also proposing new areas of cooperation that allows us to benefit from higher
margin. By taking the initiative, we were also able to establish new ties in untapped
markets that we will seek to nurture into fully-fledged long-term business relations
in the coming years.

Having continuously demonstrated prowess in product development, we have sought
to stand out from the competition by offering this area of expertise in conjunction
with our trading activities. We have also placed energies towards enhancing service
standards to ensure that the Group leaves a lasting and positive impression with its
customers.

While North America and Europe continue to constitute our principal markets, the
former accounting for nearly 50 per cent of shipment value in the reporting year,
we have sought to make headway in other parts of the world as well. The Group
has been able to make notable progress in Australia and South Africa and the
management is still investigating other markets to penetrate to broaden revenue
streams.

At this time, | wish to extend my gratitude to fellow members of the Board for their
diligence and guidance, as well as our shareholders for their unwavering trust in the
Group. | would also like to express my appreciation to the management team and
all of our staff for their perseverance and commitment to the Group's long-term
growth.

WANG Lu Yen
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 15 July 2011
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Business Review

Overview

For the year ended 30 April 2011, the Group continued to
operate under a highly challenging business environment.
Though shipment value amounted to approximately US$280.2
million (equivalent to HK$2,185.6 million), which is down by
approximately 12.2% compared to approximately US$319.0
million (equivalent to HK$2,488.2 million) last year, revenue did
increase by approximately 2.59% year on year to approximately
US$95.8 million (equivalent to HK$747.2 million). The decline
in shipment volume was mainly due to the departure of a key
customer from North America that adversely affected Linmark's
top and bottom line. However, this impact was mitigated by
management's ability to develop more business with existing
key customers, establish new business ties and initiate effective
cost saving measures.

The Group recorded profit after tax of approximately US$0.6
million (equivalent to HK$4.7 million) for the year ended
30 April 2011. The profit reported in the 2010 financial year
was approximately US$5.9 million (equivalent to HK$46.0
million), which included non-cash items of approximately
US$5.3 million (equivalent to HK$41.3 million) gained from
the liquidation of Linmark Electronics Limited (“LEL") and
approximately US$1.0 million (equivalent to HK$7.8 million)
in exchange loss arising from the deregistration of overseas
branches.

General and administrative expenses for the year ended 30
April 2011 fell by approximately 14.2% to approximately
US$22.0 million (equivalent to HK$171.6 million) when
compared with last year. This is a reflection of an effective cost
savings plan that included reduction of headcount to a level in
line with the Group's current business requirements, as well as
employing cost control measures.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B E AW M AT

Segmental Analysis

The table below shows the shipment value to different markets
during the year under review as compared to amounts in the
previous year:

Shipment value
For the year ended 30 April

2011 2010

US$' million US$' million

North America 133.7 177.9
Europe 71.1 67.9
Others 75.4 73.2
Total 280.2 319.0

During the year under review, shipment to North America
decreased by approximately 24.8% to approximately US$133.7
million (equivalent to HK$1,042.9 million). North America
is at present the largest market of the Group, contributing
approximately 47.7% of the Group's total shipment value.

Shipment to Europe increased by 4.7% to approximately
US$71.1 million (equivalent to HK$554.6 million). Europe
now accounts for approximately 25.4% of the Group's total
shipment value.

Shipment grouped under "Others”, comprising mainly
shipments to the southern hemisphere, amounted to
approximately US$75.4 million (equivalent to HK$588.1
million), representing approximately 26.9% of the Group's total
shipment value.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
ERER RO

Update on the Indian Tax Case

In November 2010, the Income Tax Appellate Tribunal ("ITAT")
in India issued an order ("Order") regarding the tax appeals
lodged by the Group. The Order held that only 50% of
commission income was attributed to the India operations of
Linmark International (Hong Kong) Limited (“Linmark HK"),
a subsidiary of the Company. Consequently, Linmark HK was
not liable to pay tax and related interest in respect of its India
operations for the years 1999/2000 to 2005/2006.

In February and May 2011, Linmark HK received income tax
refund from the tax authority of India totalling approximately
INR19,031,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,300,000 or
US$429,000).

Notwithstanding the receipt of the tax refund, according to
the advice of the Group's tax adviser, the Order of ITAT may be
subject to further appeal by the tax authority in India against
the issues decided in favour of Linmark HK. In view of this
uncertainty, the Group will not recognise a tax credit in the
profit and loss accounts until the refund of tax previously paid
is certain.

In addition, concerning the penalty demand raised by India's
tax authority in March 2010, the Group maintains the view that
there are sufficient grounds for pursuing appeals and therefore
no provision has been made in the financial statements as at
30 April 2011.

~ 10
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Hong Kong Tax Case

In response to enquiries previously received from the Inland
Revenue Department in Hong Kong ("IRD") on the modus
operandi of the Group and the chargeability of the profits
thereof, an independent tax adviser has been engaged to
handle this case and relevant information has been furnished
to the IRD. Consequent to such enquiries, the Group purchased
a Tax Reserve Certificate from the IRD during the year for
HK$700,000 regarding the holdover of tax demanded under the
protective assessment for 2003/2004 on Linmark (HK) Limited,
a subsidiary of the Company in Hong Kong.

In March 2011, the Group received certain protective
assessments from the IRD for 2004/2005 on the tax cases
under review. Subsequent to the year ended 30 April 2011,
another Tax Reserve Certificate of HK$950,000 has been
purchased by Linmark (HK) Limited in pursuit of the holdover of
tax demanded under the protective assessments for 2004/2005.

Taking into account the advice given by the independent tax
adviser, the Group is of the view that there are sufficient
grounds to support the tax filings for the years of assessment
in question.

Financial Review

The Group's financial position remains healthy with cash and
cash equivalents of approximately US$17.5 million (equivalent
to HK$136.5 million) as at 30 April 2011. In addition, the Group
has total banking facilities of approximately US$32.9 million
(equivalent to HK$256.6 million) including borrowing facilities
of approximately US$0.4 million (equivalent to HK$3.1 million)
as at 30 April 2011.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
ERER RN

The Group has a current ratio of 1.8 and a gearing ratio of
zero, based on no interest-bearing borrowings and total equity
of approximately US$36.7 million (equivalent to HK$286.3
million) as at 30 April 2011. There has not been any material
change in the Group's borrowings since 30 April 2011.

Trade receivables decreased from approximately US$5.3
million (equivalent to HK$41.3 million) as at 30 April 2010
to approximately US$5.1 million (equivalent to HK$39.8
million) as at 30 April 2011. Trade receivables that are over
90 days, which amounted to approximately US$1.1 million
(equivalent to HK$8.6 million), are being carefully monitored
by the management. Approximately US$0.8 million (equivalent
to HK$6.2 million) of these balances was covered by the
impairment.

The Group's net asset value as at 30 April 2011 was
approximately US$36.7 million (equivalent to HK$286.3
million).

The Group had no material contingent liability as at 30 April
2011 and there has been no material change since then.

The majority of the Group's transactions during the year under
review were denominated in US dollars and Hong Kong dollars.
To minimise exchange risks, sales and purchases are generally
transacted in the same currency.

Remuneration Policy and Staff Development

Scheme

As at 30 April 2011, the Group had 435 staff. The total staff
costs for the year under review amounted to approximately
US$15.7 million (equivalent to HK$122.5 million) (2010:
US$17.8 million (equivalent to HK$138.8 million)). The Group
offers competitive remuneration schemes to its employees
based on industry practices, individual and the Group's
performance. In addition, share options and discretionary
bonuses are also granted to eligible staff based on both the
Group's as well as individual performance.

~ 12
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Creditors' Voluntary Liquidation of LEL

On 28 July 2009, LEL, a company incorporated in the United
Kingdom ("UK") and a 60% subsidiary of the Company,
filed a notice of appointment of administrators in the UK
("Administration”), pursuant to which joint administrators
("Administrators”) of LEL were appointed (“Appointment”)
pursuant to paragraph 22 of Schedule B1 to the Insolvency
Act 1986 of the UK. Upon the Appointment, the legal control
of business of LEL was transferred from the directors of LEL to
the Administrators. Since then, the Company has lost control
over the financial and operating policies of LEL and therefore,
the financial results of LEL have ceased to be consolidated with
those of the Group upon the Appointment.

As stated in the announcement of the Company dated 27
January 2010, according to the Administrators, on 25 January
2010 (UK time), LEL moved from Administration to creditors'
voluntary liquidation ("Liquidation”) and the Administrators
were appointed the liquidators ("Liquidators") pursuant to
paragraph 83 of Schedule B1 to the Insolvency Act 1986 of the
UK and as approved by the creditors of LEL.

The Liquidators will adjudicate creditor claims, following which
they anticipate paying a dividend to creditors of LEL. The level
of dividend will not be known until all creditor claims have
been agreed, asset realisations finalised and the costs of the
Liquidation provided for. Following this process, the Liquidators
will take steps to dissolve LEL.

As disclosed in the interim report of the Company for the
six months ended 31 October 2009, the unaudited total net
liabilities of LEL included in the consolidated statement of
financial position of the Group amounted to approximately
US$5.3 million (equivalent to HK$41.3 million). Upon the
commencement of the Liquidation, a non-cash profit of
approximately US$5.3 million (equivalent to HK$41.3 million)
was recognised in the consolidated income statement for the
year ended 30 April 2010 of the Group as a gain on liquidation
of a subsidiary. Save for the gain on liquidation of a subsidiary
as mentioned above and the dividend payment from LEL (the
quantum of which, if any, is uncertain), at present, the Board
does not expect the Liquidation to have any other material
impact on the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
ERER RO

Prospects

The difficult business environment is set to persist as
unemployment remains high in parts of North America and
Europe, dragging down consumer confidence as a result.
Growing concerns over the worsening debt crisis in Europe,
as well as economic data suggesting that the economy of the
United States (“US") is stalling triggering fears of a potential
double-dip recession also puts in doubt that a full recovery
from the global downturn is underway.

Developing countries will also be faced with their own unique
set of challenges, the most significant of which will be rising
inflation and currency appreciation, which present increasing
cost pressures as well.

In the face of the aforesaid challenges, which will lead to
more conservative shopping practices and greater pressure
on maintaining lower prices, the management will seek to
further enhance the Group's competitiveness. Elevating
service standards, bolstering ties with existing customers and
investigating unexplored markets in order to establish new
alliances will be among the efforts to be made.

In addition, the management will continue to manage
expenses effectively and will consider merger and acquisition
opportunities that lead to a more diverse range of products
to offer customers. Having clear strategies in place and the
commitment to succeed, the management remains cautiously
optimistic about the Group's financial performance in the
coming years despite challenges ahead.
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Biographical Details of Directors and

Senior Management
EENEAEEEEMN

Executive directors

WANG Lu Yen T#E

Mr. WANG Lu Yen, aged 57, is an executive director and the chairman of the
Company and became the chief executive officer of the Company with effect
from 8 October 2010. He is mainly responsible for the Group's corporate and
strategy planning and business development. Mr. Wang joined the Group in 1998
as chairman. He is a co-founder, an executive director and chairman of Roly
International Holdings Ltd. ("Roly International”), the indirect holding company of
the Company which was listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
from 1996 to 2007.

Mr. Wang has over 30 years of experience in the trading and distribution business.
Mr. Wang is a vice-chairman of China Association for Middle and Small Commercial
Enterprises, a member of the China Overseas Friendship Association, a member of
Shanghai Chinese Overseas Friendship Association, a member of The Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Central Policy Unit Pan-Pearl River
Delta Panel, a member of Hong Kong Association for the Promotion of Peaceful
Reunification of China, a honorary court member of The Hong Kong Baptist
University, a member of Hong Kong/Taiwan Business Cooperation Committee, the
honorary chairman of Taiwan Business Association (Hong Kong) Limited, a director
of the Soochow Management Academic Foundation of Soochow University and
a director of the Taiwan Design Center. Mr. Wang was awarded the Directors of
The Year Awards 2005 hosted by The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He holds a
Bachelor's degree in Business Administration from Soochow University, Taiwan and
an EMBA degree from Guanghua School of Management, Peking University, the
People's Republic of China (“PRC").
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EENRREERER

Executive directors (continued)

WONG Hing Lin, Dennis & E4E

Mr. WONG Hing Lin, Dennis, aged 41, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company with effect from 1 September 2010. Mr. Wong has been the chief
financial officer of the Group since 2006 and oversees the finance, shipping, IT
and HR functions of the Group. Prior to that, Mr. Wong was the head of corporate
development department of Roly International, an intermediate holding company
of the Company, primarily responsible for Roly International and the Group's
corporate development, mergers and acquisitions and investor relations activities.
Before joining Roly International in 2000, Mr. Wong had worked at several major
international financial institutions where he gained extensive experience in finance,
investments and banking. Mr. Wong holds a Master of Business Administration
degree in finance from Boston University in the US, and a Bachelor of Science
degree from The University of British Columbia in Canada.

Non-executive director

“ - L..

WONG Wai Ming &

Mr. WONG Wai Ming, aged 53, is a non-executive director of the Company. Mr.
Wong has been an independent non-executive director of the Company since it
was listed in 2002 and was redesignated as an executive director of the Company
in 2005 and then further redesignated as a non-executive director of the Company
in 2007. Mr. Wong has been the chief financial officer and senior vice president of
Lenovo Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange"), since 2007. He is also an independent
non-executive director of I.T Limited and China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited, all of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong was a non-
executive director of Kingsoft Corporation Limited, which shares are also listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from 2007 to 2010. Mr. Wong was an
executive director and chief executive officer of Roly International from 2005 to
2007. He was previously an investment banker with over 16 years of experience in
investment banking business in Greater China. Mr. Wong is a chartered accountant
of the UK and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"). He holds a Bachelor's degree of Science (with Honours) in
Management Sciences from The Victoria University of Manchester, the UK.
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Independent non-executive directors

WANG Arthur Minshiang T &%

Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang, aged 50, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since 2002. Mr. Wang is also a member of the board
and former chief executive officer of GigaMedia Limited, a NASDAQ listed online
entertainment and game provider. Mr. Wang is also a board and audit committee
member of NASDAQ listed Home Inns & Hotels Management Inc., one of China's
leading hotel chains. Previously, Mr. Wang was a co-founder and executive director
of KGI Asia Limited, the investment banking arm of the Koos Group of Taiwan.
Mr. Wang also serves on the board of directors of several finance and technology
companies in the region and was previously a member of the board of Softbank
Investment International (Strategic) Limited (now known as China Renji Medical
Group Limited), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Wang received his Juris Doctorate degree from Yale Law School and
practised corporate and securities law in Hong Kong and New York. He also holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of California at Los Angeles, the US.

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius #Z47

Mr. TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius, aged 63, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since 2005. Mr. Tse is a fellow of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, and the HKICPA. Mr. Tse is a past president
and the current Chairman of the Audit Committee of the HKICPA. He joined
KPMG in 1976, became a partner in 1984 and retired in 2003. Mr. Tse was a non-
executive chairman of KPMG's operations in the PRC and a member of the KPMG
China advisory board from 1997 to 2000. Mr. Tse is currently an independent non-
executive director of Wing Hang Bank, Limited, CNOOC Limited, China Telecom
Corporation Limited, Sinofert Holdings Limited and SJM Holdings Limited, all
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tse was an independent non-
executive director of China Construction Bank Corporation, which shares are also
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from 2004 to 2010. Mr. Tse is also a
member of the International Advisory Council of the People's Municipal Government
of Wuhan. Mr. Tse holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences degree from The University of

Hong Kong.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EENRREERER

Independent non-executive directors (continued)

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS

Mr. Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS, aged 64, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since 2008. He became the chief executive
officer of Freemans Grattan Holdings of Otto Group in 2008. From 1994 to 2007,
he was managing director of Otto International Asia and was responsible for all of
its sourcing offices and trading companies in the Asia Pacific region. Prior to that,
he worked his way through different aspects of the garment industry for 22 years
in South Africa. Having been managing director for the manufacturing subsidiary
of a major retailer in South Africa and a board member of such retailer for 4 years,
he joined a large American apparel manufacturer in Hong Kong in 1992. He holds a

Bachelor's degree in Garment Engineering received from a college in Netherlands.

Company secretary

Ms. CHEUNG Hoi Yin, Brenda, aged 43, is the company secretary of the Company
and Roly International. Ms. Cheung joined a subsidiary of Roly International in 1997
as an assistant company secretary. She has over 15 years of company secretarial
experience gained in listed companies. Ms. Cheung holds a Bachelor of Arts degree
in Accountancy and is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators, the UK.
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Corporate Governance Report
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The Company has adopted most of the Code Provisions (“Code
Provisions") as stated in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
("CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules (“Listing Rules")
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended,
as the Code on Corporate Governance Practices ("Code") of the Company
and the Board is committed to complying with the Code to the extent
that the directors of the Company ("Directors") consider it is applicable
to the Company and practical.

The corporate governance principles of the Group emphasise an effective
Board, sound internal controls, appropriate independence policy, and
transparency and accountability to all shareholders of the Company.

During the year under review, the Company fully complied with the Code
Provisions of the Code, save for the deviation from Code Provision A.2.1
and the modifications made to Code Provision B.1.3, details of which are
explained below.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company
are summarised as follows:

The Board

Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company's business is vested in the
Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should
make decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The functions of the Board are carried out either directly or through
Board committees. To ensure the Board is in a position to exercise its
powers in an informed manner, all members of the Board have full and
timely access to all relevant information and may take independent
professional advice if necessary.

The Board has the full support of the chief executive officer and senior
management to discharge its responsibilities.

Appropriate insurance cover for directors' and officers' liabilities
in respect of legal actions against the Directors and officers of the
Company and its subsidiaries arising out of corporate activities of the
Group has been arranged by the Company.
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Composition

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance of skills
and experience desirable for effective leadership of the Company and
independence in decision making.

The Board currently comprises six Directors in total, with two executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors. The Directors during the year under review and up to
the date of this report were as follows:

MLRK
i%%ﬁ’] BRREBIR AR B A MELE MBIIRRAT
FEE 2RI Mg -

EXg e AR UESAN  BEMULRT
BES (FRITESR=UBIIFRTES -
ATAROBEFELHEAREAHILNES :

Name of Directors Positions

EEHRE B

WANG Lu Yen Chairman, chief executive officer and executive Director (appointed chief executive officer
B4 with effect from 8 October 2010)

WONG Hing Lin, Dennis
E5EF

WONG Wai Ming
=2

WANG Arthur Minshiang
T

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius
HWEDT

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS

Michel BOURLON

KHOO Kim Cheng
R $3 5%

I TREEFRATES (BZERTHRES -2 -TF+ANAEER)

Executive Director (appointed with effect from 1 September 2010) and chief financial officer

WITES (ZER_ZZFNA-BEER) RUBEE

Non-executive Director

FRTES

Independent non-executive Director

BYIFATES

Independent non-executive Director

BUIFATES

Independent non-executive Director
BIUERTES

Chief executive officer and executive Director (resigned with effect from 8 October 2010)

TREHFRATES (BREH_FT—FTF+ANBELER

Executive Director (retired by rotation with effect from 27 August 2010)
WITES (WERET AT —ZTF/\AZ+LRAEER)

The list of Directors by category is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules
from time to time. None of the members of the Board is related to one
another.
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During the year ended 30 April 2011, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive Directors with at least one
independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the contents of such
confirmation, the Company still considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business
and financial expertise, experiences and independent judgment to the
Board. Through active participation in Board meetings, taking the lead in
managing issues involving potential conflict of interests and serving on
Board committees, all independent non-executive Directors make various
contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

Appointment, re-election and removal of Directors

The Board as a whole is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of Directors, monitoring the appointment and succession
planning of Directors and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors.

The Board reviews its own structure, size and composition regularly
to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board will carry out the
selection process by making reference to the skills, experience,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates, the Company's needs and other relevant
statutory requirements and regulations. An external recruitment agency
may be engaged to assist in the recruitment and selection process when
necessary.

The retirement of Mr. KHOO Kim Cheng as executive Director and
cessation to act as member of the Executive Committee, member and
chairman of the Investment Committee, authorised representative for
the purpose of the Listing Rules and agent for the service of process in
Hong Kong for the purpose of Part XI of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.
32, Laws of Hong Kong), all with effect from 27 August 2010, was noted
by the Board.

REZE-_T——FNA=THILFE  BBRERT
BB IENTES MEPRD BT

FRTEZREBEENTEER  NGFH XA
MM BEEERNE L LHARA EFENE

B A A UL AR Al 2 23K -

AREEEISBYIIENTESNEDFERER
£ BREZFHFE LA RE3 3T 2 B
S RIBEBERENAS - ARFNRE
EBNIERTESHHFABILER °

BIUFRTEZTREFTSERNENEBRMB
BEMND KRB HE - BEREB2RER
83 SIFRESNEBENSERNEREE
YHBNREEZES  2RBIUIFATEFER
ARBERZBIHELERN TR ©

EENEET BEECRER
EESRRAERNEFTINANK  RESHIR
BARE Eﬂmﬁﬁ%kﬁ ERESTNR IR
EETFEIA R ZBY IFNTESTNB LI -

BT e anRE  REREX -
REVIEARREHOBR - REXMH - B
RE BT ES T -

HEFSHRTZRE  EFSR2REREREA

BVRRRE - KRB - ﬁ%%ﬂ%ﬁﬂz%l/wﬂﬁ%&‘[ﬁﬂiﬁ
A HOERE  ARBZHBEREMEREGR

ENSTR ETERERRF - YEFERINEHE
RIEBEITHRE RBERF -

BHRREEH -_F—TF/\A T LARRERNR
TEE IT@?EﬂﬂiﬁaﬁE REZRE
SRERER  BRALMMAAUZEERER AR
BERRRIGD (FBEDIENRE) EXIBEREE
WErREFXHZRER  CRESSHE -

}

-




Corporate Governance Report
NRIERMRE

The appointment of Mr. WONG Hing Lin, Dennis, the chief financial
officer of the Group, as executive Director, member of the Executive
Committee and the Investment Committee, authorised representative for
the purpose of the Listing Rules and agent for the service of process in
Hong Kong for the purpose of Part XI of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.
32, Laws of Hong Kong) which became effective on 1 September 2010
was approved by unanimous consent of members of the Board on 27
August 2010.

The resignation of Mr. Michel BOURLON as chief executive officer,
executive Director, member of the Executive Committee and the
Investment Committee with effect from 8 October 2010 was noted by
the Board.

The appointment of Mr. WANG Lu Yen, an executive Director and the
chairman, as member and chairman of the Investment Committee with
effect from 1 September 2010 and chief executive officer with effect
from 8 October 2010 were approved by unanimous consent of members
of the Board on 27 August 2010 and a meeting of the Board on 8
October 2010 respectively.

Each of Mr. WANG Lu Yen and Mr. WONG Hing Lin, Dennis, being an
executive Director, has entered into a service agreement with the
Company with an initial term of three years from May 2002 and
September 2010 respectively, and has continued or will continue
thereafter until terminated by either party by not less than six months'
notice in writing.

Mr. WONG Wai Ming, a non-executive Director, has been appointed for
a term of two years under a letter of appointment from 5 July 2007 and
has continued thereafter until terminated by either party by serving at
least one month's notice in writing.

Each of the three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
WANG Arthur Minshiang, Mr. TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius and Mr. Jakob
Jacobus Koert TULLENERS, has first been appointed for a term of two
years under a letter of appointment. Such term has been renewed for a
further two years upon expiry. The appointments may be terminated by
the independent non-executive Directors by serving not less than one
month's notice in writing.

The Company's bye-laws provide that all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new
Director appointed by the Board to fill a causal vacancy shall be
subject to re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment.
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The Company's bye-laws also allow for removal of a Director by an
ordinary resolution.

The Board recommended the re-appointment of the Directors standing
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

The Company's circular to be despatched to shareholders of the
Company on or about 28 July 2011 will contain detailed information of
the Directors standing for re-election.

Training for Directors

Each newly appointed Director has received comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment, so as
to ensure that he has appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing briefing
and professional development to Directors whenever necessary.

Board meetings

Number of meetings and Directors’ attendance

Regular Board meetings are held four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals primarily for reviewing and approving the financial
and operating performance, and considering and approving the overall
strategies, policies and budgets of the Group.

During the year ended 30 April 2011, the Board met six times mainly
for considering and approving the audited final results for the year
ended 30 April 2010, unaudited results for the three months ended 31
July 2010, change of the chief executive officer and executive Director,
unaudited interim results for the six months ended 31 October 2010,
unaudited results for the nine months ended 31 January 2011, budget of
the Group for the year ending 30 April 2012 and a continuing connected
transaction. At these board meetings, the Board also reviewed and
discussed the Group's business updates and strategies.
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BEENBE_T——FOA=THLFEMNE
=2 BRZES FHZESLRRBERS

The individual attendance record of each Director at the meetings of the
Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and annual general

meeting during the year ended 30 April 2011 is set out below:

Pl
= AR

BAHEERRFIET

Attendance/Number of Meetings

member of the Executive Committee and member and chairman of the Investment
Committee of the Board with effect from 27 August 2010.

The Directors are not members of the committees at the relevant time but attended
the meetings by invitation.

Mr. WONG Hing Lin, Dennis attended the annual general meeting in the capacity
of chief financial officer. He was appointed executive Director with effect from 1
September 2010.

HER SFRH™
Audit  Remuneration Annual
Board  Committee Committee general
Name of Directors EEpng meeting meeting meeting meeting
BR=R
EEg® ERZEEE FMHEEE BEXE

Executive Directors HITES

WANG Lu Yen (Note 1) T8 (M) 5/6 11 0/1 11

WONG Hing Lin, Dennis (Note 2) =EF (fieE2) 5/5 *1/1 *1/1 11

Michel BOURLON (Note 3) Michel BOURLON (Pf7¥3) 2/2 “1 N/A NE R A

KHOO Kim Cheng (Note 4) ERERER (FfisE4) 11 11 N/A 73 1

Non-executive Director FHTES

WONG Wai Ming =12 3/6  NJA TiEA N/A TEH 0/1

Independent non-executive

Directors BAFHTES

WANG Arthur Minshiang T8 5/6 2/2 111 /1

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius HEDT 6/6 2/2 11 11

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS 4/6 2/2 N/A i@ A 0/1

Number of meetings held FEMRITIRE 6 2 1 1

Notes: fFsE -

1. Mr. WANG Lu Yen was appointed chief executive officer with effect from 8 October 1. FHRELEERZERTHRAY =T —ZTF+ANH
2010. He was also appointed member and chairman of the Investment Committee of RER - WNEZEREETEREZEGHERERE -
the Board with effect from 1 September 2010. H-T—ZTFNA—HEER-

Mr. WONG Hing Lin, Dennis was appointed executive Director and member of the 2. BEEFLEERZERWITES EFGRTEEGRER
Executive Committee and the Investment Committee of the Board with effect from 1 BZEEXE AT ZTFNLA—BEER -
September 2010.

Mr. Michel BOURLON resigned as executive Director and chief executive officer and 3. Michel BOURLONST A4 BHEFNITE EFRITHAER - WA H
ceased to act as member of the Executive Committee and the Investment Committee EEEESRNTEESRIREZEGKE AT —F
of the Board with effect from 8 October 2010. F+ANBRERK -

Mr. KHOO Kim Cheng retired by rotation as executive Director and ceased to act as 4. R RmERENTES U TBEEESGNTEE

BRERREREERERERE B-_ZT—TF/\A=
THEBRREX -

HEFREBLEREEGNE
# -
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In place of physical meetings, the Board and Board committees also
circulate written resolutions for approval by the relevant members of the
Board and Board committees.

Practices and conduct of meetings
Meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are made available
to Directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least
14 days before the meetings. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are generally sent to all Directors at least three days before
each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised
of the latest developments and financial position of the Company and
to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each Director
also have separate and independent access to the senior management
and company secretary whenever necessary.

The chief executive officer, chief financial officer (who heads a team
of professional staff responsible for the accounting and financial
reporting function) and company secretary of the Company attend all
regular Board meetings and when necessary, other Board and committee
meetings to advise on business developments, financial and accounting
matters, statutory compliance, corporate governance and other major
aspects of the Company.

The company secretary is responsible for taking and keeping minutes
of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft and final versions
of minutes of Board meetings are normally sent to Directors for their
comments and records respectively, in both cases within a reasonable
time after each meeting is held.

According to the current Board practice, any material transaction, which
involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a Director,
will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board
meeting. The Company's bye-laws also contain provisions requiring
Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at
meetings for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of
their associates have a material interest.
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Chairman and chief executive officer

Following the resignation of Mr. Michel BOURLON as executive Director
and chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 8 October
2010, Mr. WANG Lu Yen, the chairman of the Company, has also taken
up the post of chief executive officer of the Company. Such practice
deviates from Code Provision A.2.1 which stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.

In view of Mr. WANG Lu Yen's extensive experience in the industry and
in-depth knowledge of the Group's operation and business, the Board
believes that Mr. Wang is instrumental in formulating and implementing
the Group's strategies. The Board expects that the Group will benefit
from a unified chairman and chief executive officer position that
provides clarity of leadership and allows efficient decision-making in
strategic matters as well as the Group's day-to-day business. However,
as the corporate needs of the Group may change from time to time,
the Board will review reqularly the board composition and division of
responsibilities to ensure balance of power and corporate governance
practices appropriate for the size and structure of the Group's business.

The responsibilities of the chairman and the chief executive officer are
clearly defined and set out in writing, details of which are stated below.

The chairman's principal role is to provide leadership for the Board,
in particular, the Executive Committee, on corporate and strategic
planning and ensure proper proceedings of the Board and the Executive
Committee.

Supported by the other executive Director and management, the chief
executive officer's principal role is to manage and operate the Group's
day-to-day business, including the implementation of major strategies
and initiatives adopted by the Board.

Board committees

The Company currently have four committees, namely, the Executive
Committee, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Investment
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's affairs.

Terms of reference of all Board committees are available on the
Company's website at www.linmark.com for reference.
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Current structure of the Board

Executive Committee

ﬁl'f—f;/\ =

Audit Committee
EZEEE

Remuneration Committee

FMEZES

Investment Committee
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The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company's

expenses.
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Executive Committee
The Executive Committee consists of all the executive Directors as

follows:

WANG Lu Yen (chairman of the committee)
WONG Hing Lin, Dennis (appointed member of the committee

with effect from 1 September 2010)

Michel BOURLON (ceased to act as member of the committee

with effect from 8 October 2010)

KHOO Kim Cheng (ceased to act as member of the committee

with effect from 27 August 2010)

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management and operation

functions of the Group to the Executive Committee save to the extent

that certain powers and authorities are reserved to the other Board

committees or the full Board. The powers and authorities reserved to the
full Board include the following but are not limited to:

(a)

(b)

(o)

(h)

matters involving a conflict of interest for a substantial
shareholder and/or a Director;

making decisions on whether or not to declare, recommend or pay
dividend;

approving (i) the publication of preliminary announcement of the
profits or losses in respect of annual results or interim results and
(i) the related financial statements and/or accounts;

approving any proposed change in the capital structure, including
any redemption of its securities listed on the Stock Exchange;

approving any decision to change the general nature of the
business of the Company;

approving any discloseable transaction, major transaction, very
substantial acquisition and disposal or connected transaction
within the meaning of Chapters 14 and 14A of the Listing Rules;

matters specifically set out in the Listing Rules which require an
approval at a full board meeting; and

any regulations or resolutions or restrictions that may be imposed
upon the committees by the Board from time to time.

The authorities reserved to the Remuneration Committee are more

particularly discussed below.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises all independent non-executive Directors
as follows:

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius (chairman of the committee)
WANG Arthur Minshiang
Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS

None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the
Company's existing external auditors.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Company's
annual reports and accounts, interim reports and results announcements
and to provide advice and comments thereon to the Directors. The
members meet regularly with the internal auditor, external auditors
and the Company's senior management for the review and supervision
of the Company's financial reporting and internal control procedures.
The Audit Committee is also responsible for monitoring integrity of the
financial statements of the Company and the Company's annual reports
and accounts and interim reports, and to review significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held two meetings
to:

(a) review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the chief financial officer
(who heads a team of professional staff responsible for the
accounting and financial reporting function), internal auditor or
external auditors before submission to the Board;

(b)  review the relationship with the external auditors by reference
to the work performed by the auditors, their fees and terms of
engagement, and make recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditors
proposed by management; and

() review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's financial
reporting system, internal control system and risk management
system and associated procedures.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the terms and conditions of
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions of the
Company which took place during the year under review.

The Company's annual results for the year ended 30 April 2011 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee  EESHZEZZEZ B < 7 Mt AR EEE RNIMNERZ
on the selection and appointment of the external auditors during the — ZXEMEBKE R EEWMEIRE RO -
year under review.

Remuneration Committee FMZEES

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, the majority of ~ #FHBIEZEE @R Ty =K B4EK - KZBHKEH
which are independent non-executive Directors, as follows: B IEHITES -

WANG Arthur Minshiang (chairman of the committee) FTHE(ZEESEF)

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius HENT

WANG Lu Yen T

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include HEZE 2/ EEBIZEIEMEFNBUR M E#EE
making recommendations on and approving the remuneration policy BZERSHREEEHNHFMESRHEES  TEH
and structure and remuneration packages of the Directors and senior [} ZEHEREENIFTES - BN - HENEE I
management. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for B EHITEREE BHMEE REENERER -
establishing transparent procedures for developing such remuneration  LATERITEESS HEMBHEA T2 EBEFTH
policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of hisfher  ANEZ %M o HE 2 FEG L2 BEARAR A
associates will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration, which REAETHERRMRREBETE - HNEESE
remuneration will be determined by reference to the performance of the TLEMER  REETFNESEAERNAFEE
individual and the Company as well as market practice and conditions. [}/ si{TEN4B# A -

The Remuneration Committee shall consult the chairman and/or the

chief executive officer of the Company about their recommendations on

remuneration policy and structure and remuneration packages.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee were in HMEE e v BEESE A STANE ZRE
compliance with the Code Provisions except that Code Provisions B T STRME X 5EB.1.3(a) 16 B3 (0) IR E & BF B fE
B.1.3(a) and B.1.3(b) have been combined and modified such that HEETIN B S EeFRBIEEBEAED
the Remuneration Committee has the power to do such things and AERARSEBAMNE AR (RFEBRME)
to approve all matters in relation to compensation regarding all the  ET3Z1a% A &) 2 R ENE(F - BRIE R ULERTE
directors and senior management of the Group in accordance with the BRAANEEMEEENEREREZHFMNE=E -
terms and conditions of their respective agreement/contract with the  E4op @ ZHENE B @ IERE A RQ T 2 BAL R
Company, or as the case may be, the relevant subsidiary of the Company. BT ESe 2 RN -

In addition, the Remuneration Committee is also delegated with the

authority to exercise all the powers of the Board in relation to the share

option scheme of the Company.

Management considers that the Remuneration Committee can better BIEEARAL  FNEZEESE EXTE 2 &IE:]#
serve its functions under the modified terms (“Modified Terms") of FENEESHESHE ([KETBEEER|) T &
reference of the Remuneration Committee set out above as its duties  BRIMEITHEE  FERESHEBE ELBETHE
under the Modified Terms are more extensive and onerous than those SHE NRSTAIEXIREEREHEBEAE TR
prescribed in the Code Provisions. The Company therefore proposes that  fxs% o Eft » N AGIEZEMEE S R L BEE
the Remuneration Committee shall continue to abide by the provisions — EBSFEETRBESEZIEX - BEEE S E B
of the Modified Terms in the future. Management will review the terms BEESE - YR TE2/ELHEE B -
regularly and make appropriate changes if necessary.
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During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held
one meeting to review and approve the change to the remuneration
package of an executive Director. By passing written resolutions,
the Remuneration Committee also considered and approved the
remuneration of a newly appointed executive Director, the change of
authorised person to deal with the allotment of shares upon exercise of
options under the share option scheme of the Company.

Investment Committee
The Investment Committee comprises two executive Directors as follows:

WANG Lu Yen (chairman of the committee)
(appointed member and chairman of the committee
with effect from 1 September 2010)

WONG Hing Lin, Dennis (appointed member of the committee
with effect from 1 September 2010)

KHOO Kim Cheng (ceased to act as member and chairman of
the committee with effect from 27 August 2010)

Michel BOURLON (ceased to act as member of the committee
with effect from 8 October 2010)

The primary duties of the Investment Committee are to review or
recommend to the Board the investment transactions of the Group.

The main duties of the Investment Committee include the following:

(@)  to review, recommend and approve matters relating to mergers
and acquisitions, disposal and formation of any entities and joint
ventures which would not constitute notifiable transactions under
the Listing Rules;

(b)  to review and recommend matters to the Board for approval
relating to mergers and acquisitions, disposal and formation of
any entities and joint ventures which would constitute notifiable
transactions under the Listing Rules; and

(c)  toreview and recommend capital market activities.

During the year under review, the Investment Committee considered
and approved the disposal of a subsidiary holding non-core assets to an
independent third party by passing written resolutions. The transaction
was not a notifiable transaction under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.
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Internal controls

The Board is responsible for maintaining the system of internal controls
of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. During the year ended
30 April 2011, the Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of
the internal control system of the Group, in particular the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff in respect of the Group's
accounting and financial reporting functions.

During the year under review, as delegated by the Board and Audit
Committee, Internal Audit Department (“IAD") has conducted internal
control reviews in accordance with the Three-Year Internal Audit Plan on
sales and merchandising area which covered major financial, operational,
IT, compliance and risk management aspects. Key audit findings and
recommendations were presented at the Audit Committee meetings.

In addition, the IAD has updated the Three-Year Internal Audit Plan for
FY2012-2014 based on an annual assessment of the Group's risk profile,
which has been presented to the Audit Committee.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the year ended 30 April 2011.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code ("Employees Written Guidelines") for
securities transactions by relevant employees who are likely to be in
possession of unpublished price-sensitive information in relation to the
Company and its securities.

No incident of non-compliance with the Employees Written Guidelines
by the relevant employees was noted by the Company.
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Responsibilities in respect of the financial

statements and auditors' remuneration
The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced,
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, price-

clear and

sensitive announcements and other publications of the Company and
other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 30 April 2011.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditors' Report” contained in this annual report.

The remuneration paid to the external auditors of the Company in
respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 30
April 2011 amounted to approximately US$315,000 and US$103,000
respectively. The non-audit services were mainly related to tax services.

Shareholder rights and investor relations
The Company follows the practices stated in the CG Code regarding
shareholder rights and investor relations.

The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a poll on
resolutions at shareholders' meetings are contained in the Company's
bye-laws. Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules which came into
effect on 1 January 2009, any vote of shareholders at a general meeting
must be taken by poll. Therefore, all the resolutions put to the vote at
general meetings of the Company will be taken by way of poll.

After each general meeting, the poll results will be published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

In view of the requirement of Code Provision E.1.3 which came into
effect on 1 January 2009, the Company will arrange for the notice to
shareholders to be sent in the case of annual general meetings at least
20 clear business days before the meeting and to be sent at least 10
clear business days in the case of all other general meetings.
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The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for
communication between the shareholders and the Board. The chairman
of the Board as well as chairman of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Investment Committee or in their absence, other
members of the respective committees, and where applicable, the
independent Board committee, are available to answer questions at the
shareholders' meetings.

Separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders' meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors.

The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships
with its investors. Designated senior management maintains regular
dialogue with institutional investors to keep them abreast of the
Company's developments. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner.

Besides, as to promote effective communication, the Company also
maintains a website at www.linmark.com, where extensive information
and updates on the Company's business developments and operations,
corporate governance practices and other information are posted.

Hong Kong, 15 July 2011
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Report of the Directors
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The Directors present their report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 30 April 2011.

Principal activities
The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year under review by
business and geographical segments as well as information about major
customers is set out in Note 4 to the financial statements.

Results and appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2011 are set out in
the consolidated income statement on page 52.

An interim dividend of 0.31 HK cent per ordinary share, totalling
approximately US$272,000, was declared and paid to shareholders
during the year under review.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend in
respect of the year ended 30 April 2011.

Ultimate holding company

During the year under review, the Directors regard Roly International as
a controlling shareholder of the Company and Megastar Holdings Limited
("Megastar”) as the ultimate holding company of the Company. The
ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr. WANG Lu Yen, a Director.

As at 30 April 2011,
approximately 69.84% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Roly International, directly and indirectly, held

Property, plant and equipment

Details of movements in the Group's property, plant and equipment
during the year under review are set out in Note 13 to the financial
statements.
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Share capital
Details of the share capital of the Company during the year under review
are set out in Note 28 to the financial statements.

Reserves
Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year under review
are set out in Note 30 to the financial statements.

Distributable reserves

Distributable reserves of the Company at 30 April 2011, calculated under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and consisted of the aggregate of
contributed surplus and retained earnings, amounted to US$16,236,000
(2010: US$21,635,000).

Share options and share option scheme

The Company's share option scheme (“Scheme") was adopted pursuant to
a resolution of the then sole shareholder passed on 22 April 2002 for the
primary purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible persons
for their contribution or potential contribution to the Group. Under the
Scheme, the Board or a committee thereof may grant options to eligible
persons (see summary below) to subscribe for shares in the Company.
Pursuant to an ordinary resolution relating to the amendments to the
Scheme passed at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
16 August 2004, the exclusion of Mr. WANG Lu Yen from participating in
the Scheme so long as he remains as a substantial shareholder (as such
term is construed in accordance with the Listing Rules) of the Company
has been removed.

Summary of the Scheme is as follows:

1. Eligible persons
The eligible persons under the Scheme include:

() any director or proposed director (whether executive or
non-executive, including any independent non-executive
director), employee or proposed employee (whether full time
or part time) of any member of the Group or any controlling
shareholder of the Company or any company controlled by a
controlling shareholder of the Company; or

(i) any holder of any securities issued by any member of the
Group or any controlling shareholder of the Company or
any company controlled by a controlling shareholder of the
Company; or

(iii) any business partner, agent, consultant, representative,
supplier of goods or services or customer of any member of
the Group or any controlling shareholder of the Company or
any company controlled by a controlling shareholder of the
Company.
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Share options and share option scheme (continued) BN IR AT & ()

2.  Maximum number of shares 2. ROBBLR
The initial total number of shares in respect of which options may *ETF%%%TF&Z%%%%B/%&Zﬁi
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of MEBEE - TEEEARARREARR A KL
the shares of the Company in issue immediately following the LW%E%TTHX@ZWO/O 9

listing of the Company's shares.

Subject to the approval by the Company's shareholders, the EARRNRIREIEZERT - BEZE
aggregate number of the Company's shares which may be issued KRR EE AT E B AR A 5T & 2 35 B 1A
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be RITEZBRETERAR AR BT 2
exercised under the Scheme and any other share option schemes MBS - PEBEaARATTREETRD
of the Company shall not exceed 30% of the Company's shares in 2300 ° i & MAR R EILIFRNITES L
issue from time to time. Options granted to the independent non- FERRIBESEBCHBEATREER
executive Directors or substantial shareholders of the Company B BPEREROEREZEREARZ
or any of their respective associates in excess of 0.1% of the FA+=EA A BTERERZTE R
Company's shares in issue and with an aggregate value in excess RAFEREABRER EIE & TR igE
of HK$5 million resulting in the total number of shares issued TRZATZHERE (BFEE/TFE - EdHEk
and to be issued upon exercise of options already granted and to MARITER) MEBTRETETZRNLER
be granted to such person under the Scheme and any other share g HEBARE B BTG 20.1%k B E
option schemes of the Company (including options exercised, {BB#815,000,000/8 7T + AIMBESELERFEAR
cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month period up to and AR ALE o

including the date of grant of such option must be approved in
advance by the Company's shareholders.

At a special general meeting of the Company held on 5 August ERRGIRZZTEZE=F/\ARABEIT 2K
2003, the Company's shareholders approved the refreshment of ?"H%‘JK/E\J: AN B IR R AL B F AR AT
the Scheme mandate and the total number of shares which may EIRHE - BIREBEZAE RAA G EREAM
be issued upon the exercise of options granted under the Scheme RERRECT IR 2 BRI TR ] T 8
and any other share option schemes of the Company was re-set at TZBRHEBEITIR_EZTE=F/\HA
10% of the shares in issue on 5 August 2003, the date of approval B (BEEFAH) 21T H% 21000 (B
of the refreshment (i.e. 64,740,000 shares). 64,740,0000% A% (D) °

At a special general meeting of the Company held on 11 December EARARNRRZZEENF+ZA+—HET
2008, the Company's shareholders approved a further refreshment ZRREFRAE £ AR RIRRER B —
of the Scheme mandate and the total number of shares which may W E AR BRBZAERAA
be issued upon the exercise of options granted under the Scheme A (AT B b B IR i 5t B 2 BB AR 1T
and any other share option schemes of the Company was re-set BRAI TETZROBEETR_ZZEN
at 10% of the shares in issue on 11 December 2008, the date of F+-—A+—H (HEEFHBH) BT
approval of the refreshment (i.e. 67,499,464 shares). 5 2.10% (EN67,499,464% %17 ) °

}
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Share options and share option scheme (continued)

e

Maximum entitlement for each eligible person

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company to any eligible persons
(including those cancelled, exercised and outstanding options), in
any 12-month period up to the date of the latest grant shall not
exceed 1% of the Company's shares in issue. Any further grant of
options in excess of such limit must be separately approved by the
Company's shareholders in general meeting.

Acceptance and payment on acceptance

Options granted must be taken up within 30 days inclusive of the
day on which such offer was made, upon payment of HK$1 per
option. Options may be exercised at any time commencing on the
date as the Board may determine and ending on such date as the
Board may determine but shall not exceed 10 years from the date
of grant. The exercise price is determined by the Directors, and will
not be less than the higher of the closing price of the Company's
shares on the date of grant and the average closing price of the
shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant.

Remaining life of the Scheme

Subject to the earlier termination of the Scheme in accordance
with the rules governing the Scheme, the Scheme will expire on 22
April 2012.

~ 38

Linmark Group Limited
Annual Report 2011

BRERBRESTSE @

3

BERERALT ZEF LR

REMEERMOPRHBREBRLZ T+
—EAA - RITEREZE RARFE
MEMBEREAESR TEMNEERALTZ
BRE(BHRECEH EBTEREKRTE
) MEBTRETERITZIRMNEE LR -
TREBBARACDETRMDZ1% - FHE—
FEREBEREZ LR ZBRE  ARTTKH
ARBBRRBIRAEG LHLAE -

B R R YK
PIEEREANSERAH (ZABRER)
Z=TRAES  BARERSHBERE
XMET - BRERNAEEEREZ A
ERERTTE  HEREESFERTELBH (TR
ARHEMRTE) B TEERESE
AT EERARARMONE L BB
ZWHEHARA MK EEE L A HA
TEZEERZFHRTE (MEAKRSER
A=) e

Zat 8l 2 14 BR HA PR

BRIFERBEZAB ZRAIMBERERIEZ
e BRIZAEBR -_ZTE——FmA=
+=—HEm e




Share options and share option scheme (Continued)

At the forthcoming annual general meeting, a resolution will be
proposed to adopt a new share option scheme which will be valid for
10 years from the date of its adoption. Details of the new share option
scheme will be contained in the circular of the Company dated 28 July

2011.

Movement of the options to subscribe for shares of the Company

FRM -

BRERBRESS @

REERRBFASG LHR2RAEAER  EHESR
—IEHBARER S AR B RM B B 10

B B 2 FBRERA AR AH
RIB——FA-+/\BZBH

AEBFEARBZTERTESREER (M

granted to the Directors and employees (Note ii) under the Scheme i) AIRBEARFIRG 2 BREZEIFLAT
during the year under review was as follows:
Options granted by the Company
Number of underlying shares of the Company
ARARLZEREREZ AL ARAHE
Qutstanding Qutstanding Exercise
as at as at price
1 May 2010 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 30 April 2011 per share  Date of grant Exercise period
(HK$)
R=B-2% RZB--f
RR-A MA=TH )
HARTHE R BffE B BAX HATE SROFEE Gl=E ] AR
(1)
Directors Ez
WANG Lu Yen THE 500,000 500,000 0.700 25/08/2009 25/08/2010-24/08/2015
WONG Hing Lin, Dennis BEF 3,282,500 3,282,500 0.830 240812007 24/08/2008-23/08/2013
(Note i) (Frsiv)
500,000 500,000 0.700 25(08/2009 25(08/2010-24/08/2015
3,782,500 3782,500
INONG Wai Ming L 500,000 500,000 0700 25082009 25(08/2010-24/08/2015
INANG Arthur Minshiang IHK 312,500 312,500 0.700 25082009 25(08/2010-24/08/2015
TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius #EfT 625,000 625,000 0830 24J08/2007  24/08/2008-23/08/2013
Jakob Jacobus Koert Jakob Jacobus Koert
TULLENERS TULLENERS 312,500 312,500 0.700 25/08/2009 25/08/2010-24/08/2015
Michel BOURLON Michel BOURLON 20,000,000 (4,000,000) (16,000000) 0.164 04/11/2008 12/01/2010-11/01/2015
(Note v) (Fiztv)
KHOO Kim Cheng il b 5,660,000 5,660,000 0830 24008/2007  24/08/2008-23/08[2013
(Note vi) (BizEvi)
Continuous contract employees ~ BEAKES 5,854000 (1,755,000) 4,099,000 0830 24[082007  24/08/2008-23/08/2013
(Note ii) (B zEii)
4,108,500 (2,225,000) 1,883,500 0.700 25(08/2009 25/08/2010-24/08/2015
9,962,500 (3,980,000) 5,982,500
Total Rt 41,655,000 (4,000,000 19,980,000) 17,675,000

-
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BRERBRESTSE @

Notes: Bt E

(i) The closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily (i) REERARITEBRER L BHAT - BBRAMEHZE
quotations sheet immediately before the dates on which the outstanding options BT ERMAR - AR ARG 2 WHENT :
were granted were as follows:

Closing price per share immediately

Date of grant Ed =k before the date of grant
FERHBHAZERKTE

HK$

BT

23 August 2007 —E=+FNA=+=H 0.860
3 November 2008 —ZET)N\F+—H=H 0.140
24 August 2009 —EThFE\H=FTHA 0.670

(i) Employees include employees of the Group and of the subsidiaries of Roly (i) EEBEREBEASE X2 HER 2MEBARIZLZE
International (other than the Directors) working under employment contracts with BaK (MEBEOETZREROIMS - HRE [
the Group or subsidiaries of Roly International which are regarded as "continuous BEN] E) RERASBREEBER ZHE AR TITIE
contracts" for the purpose of the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57, Laws of Hong ZEE (EHRIN) -

Kong).

(iii) The Company has used the Black-Scholes Model for estimating the fair value of (iii) AAREHAMAA R — AFBEME X RIBZAT 8RR
options granted under the Scheme. The Black-Scholes Model is one of the commonly EREZAFE - BHR - FRMERX ARG RER
used models to estimate the fair value of an option which can be exercised before the R EMATA TATRBREATECEP—HEAR
expiry of the option period. The assumptions used in the calculation are: A o SAEPRBZBRERNAT :

(a) Risk-free interest rate - the yield of 4-year Exchange Fund Notes on the date (a) ERBFE - REAPNFHINEESESZ
of grant ZE/ R

(b) Expected volatility of share price - annualised volatility for one year (b) REZEEE - EERE A —F2FE
immediately preceding the date of grant {EiiE

() Expected life of share options - 3.5-4.5 years (@) FERRIE 2 TR AT HARR — 3.55 4.5

(d) Expected dividend paid out rate - 40% (d) TEEHAR BUK H = — 400

The amount charged to in the income statement for the year ended 30 April 2011 was HE-_T——FHA=-tTHELFEZRERIIHZEHE

approximately US$58,000 (2010: US$150,000). #958,000% 7T (ZF—F4F : 150,000%7T) °

No option was granted during the year under review. The fair value of options REEFEALEREERE - FAMBNR — SR

granted during the corresponding period last year using the Black-Scholes Model was BEXFAER EFEHERARAEREEREATED

approximately US$156,000. 156,0003E 7T, ©

The calculation of the fair value of options using the Black-Scholes Model is based on FRAMENR — FRMEXAEBRE 2 A TFEDIRIES

various assumptions and is only an estimate. It is possible that the financial benefit BRZAELE  WEBREF - BRERE A ZERTHT

accruing to the option holders may be substantially different from the value of BHm g EEFEERECEELHRERNER -

options calculated.

(i) Mr. WONG Hing Lin, Dennis, the chief financial officer of the Group, was appointed (v AEEVBRHREEFLLEARZTANTES H-F
executive Director with effect from 1 September 2010. —ZTFNA—HRERER -

(v) Mr. Michel BOURLON resigned as executive Director and chief executive officer of (v) Michel BOURLONJEABHER R RIAITE BFRITBUARE -
the Company with effect from 8 October 2010. The outstanding share options held AT —ZF+ANBRER BourlonE £EFTIF A Z
by Mr. Bourlon lapsed on 7 January 2011 which was the date of termination of his RTEBREER=Z—F—AtH AIEKLEZE
employment with the Company. On 29 November 2010, Mr. Bourlon exercised his RAARIBE) X% R=ZFT—ZTF+—A=+1B"
options to acquire 4,000,000 shares of the Company under the Scheme at an exercise Bourlon e AE IR IR T 2117 L FEARIE - REAR0.16478 T
price of HK$0.164 per share. The closing price of the shares immediately before the Z 171 B R FE4,000,00008 8 A FIRR 1D o BEEITEHEARAE
date on which the options were exercised was HK$0.56. B HiRT 2 Ikt W T (B /R 0.56 8 7T

(vi) Mr. KHOO Kim Cheng retired by rotation as executive Director at the general meeting (vi) EESRRAEER=ZZ—ZFNAZTELBEEITZARFR

of the Company held on 27 August 2010. The outstanding share options held by
Mr. Khoo remain exercisable in accordance with the Scheme so long as he is still an
employee of the Group and/or the subsidiaries of Roly International.
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Directors
The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

WANG Lu Yen

WONG Hing Lin, Dennis (appointed with effect from 1 September 2010)
Michel BOURLON (resigned with effect from 8 October 2010)

KHOO Kim Cheng (retired by rotation on 27 August 2010)

Non-executive Director
WONG Wai Ming

Independent non-executive Directors
WANG Arthur Minshiang

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS

Mr. WONG Wai Ming and Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang, in accordance
with bye-laws 87(1) and 87(2) of the Company's bye-laws and Mr. WONG
Hing Lin, Dennis in accordance with bye-law 86(2) of the Company's
bye-laws, will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Directors' service contracts

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting have a service contract with the
Group which is not determinable within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

B=
AEBEAREEAREETRBMEEEE
=T

HITEE
Eed

=FEF (REHR=
Michel BOURLON (E%—-FE B=
+AN\B##EER)

iR (RZE—ZFNA -+ EA&HFERE)

—EEARREAN)
2

FHTES

=ZH

BIFHTES

F 5

HELT

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS

BERRT 2 AaHEIZEHES7(1)IE&87(2)1F » =E
AAEERETSFELEBRERERIBFRS LR
£ - MRBEARRZAFMEIE62)E  EEF
EETHERERERREAFARG LRE - BREHF
B BN FAE 1R EBAT o

B
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Directors' interests in shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations

As at 30 April 2011, the interests and short positions of the Directors AZE——FWMA=1H "' ARRIZESZRITH
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and  ZRE R AR Rl EE MBS EE (E&FBBE
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within ~ fIZE571E B 5 M A E M ([BHFRBEEH )
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.  ZEXVEB) 2 & fn RN RELTELADA
571, Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFQ")) as recorded in the register required to ~ ANA Tﬁ)ﬂ?;&%’f&%fﬂ%ﬂ% 5817 B 2 B3

be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or were required, TETE?T%EE;TE‘J A

fzEm AR &(m%%
MEARRR) R 2 s oK

F
B
i)
=
3

pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange, were as follows:

(a) Interests and short positions in the shares of the (a) RAABARHMBEBEBE 2RO 2%
Company and its associated corporations mRRE

2.

Percentage
shareholding in
the same class
of securities as

Company/Name of Number and class

associated corporations Name of Directors Capacity of securities at 30 April 2011
(Note 1)

R=2B——%F

mA=+H

ERERE S

AATHBEEZEE EEHR &4 REHERER ZRER DL
(Ff¥sE1)

Company WANG Lu Yen Beneficial owner 620,000 0.09%
KA A] FrE BERNERA A ordinary shares
I
(L)

Company WANG Lu Yen Interest of controlled 477,035,619 69.849%
PAN/NC] F 1% corporations ordinary shares
(Note 2) R
RiEHDEE 2 Ea (U

(HftEE2)

Company WANG Arthur Beneficial owner 260,000 0.04%
ViN/NE]! Minshiang EREAA ordinary shares
F & AR
(U

Company WONG Wai Ming Beneficial owner 100,000 0.01%
P N/N| =ZH BEnlEA A ordinary shares
AR
(U

Megastar WANG Lu Yen Beneficial owner 1 ordinary share 100%
(Note 2) TR g/ 2N AL

(M$3E2)

1)
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Directors' interests in shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (Continued)

EERAQRTREREBEIE ZRM® - 8
ERORESPZES (@)

(a) Interests and short positions in the shares of the (a) RADATARHEMBEEIBEZROT 2

Company and its associated corporations (Continued) mRRE (&)

Notes: Bt 3E

(1) The letter "L" represents the Director's interests in the shares. (1) [L] Th3eE R 2 1S -

(2) As at 30 April 2011, (i) RGS Holdings Limited ("RGS"), a wholly owned (2) RZZE——FEOA=F+H ZBBEEZ2E
subsidiary of Roly International, owned 431,220,000 shares of the Company, & [ff & 2 FIRGS Holdings Limited ([RGS)) #E &
representing approximately 63.13% of the issued share capital of the 431,220,000f8 AR & M D - (5 AR RQ BB BT
Company; and (ii) Roly International owned 45,815,619 shares of the #763.13% : (i) & &k B B 9 5 45,815,619A% 48 A
Company, representing approximately 6.71% of the issued share capital of the ARG (EAD T B EITIRAL6.71% c AR T
Company. By virtue of the relationship between Mr. WANG Lu Yen and Roly Y[ FERENRIBIEFES NG G FEXVIBER
International as stated in Note (2) of Section (a) to the paragraph headed B 2 B A+ | —ER 5 (a) 300 2 Fit 52 (2) Fr
"Substantial shareholders and other persons who are required to disclose FTHREEFEE2FHBEEREZENREER  BEEER
their interests pursuant to Part XV of the SFO" below, Mr. WANG Lu Yen was HAEEFIEXVE 26X F1REEE R AES
deemed, by virtue of the provisions of Part XV of the SFO, to be interested 2B EBR RRCSETH B Z B AR RN Z #E2s ©
in all the shares of the Company in which Roly International and RGS were
interested.

(b) Interests and short positions in the underlying shares (b) RAAX TR HEAHB LB ZHBEKRHGF
of the Company and its associated corporations TRERAR
Number of underlying
Company/Name of shares comprised in
associated corporations Name of Directors Capacity the options
(Notes 1 and 2)
BREMEZ
ARTFHEEEZ BB EEHE 54 R B EE
(PR 5E1 R 2)

Company WANG Lu Yen Beneficial owner 500,000 (L)

YiN/NG] B BEmEEA

Company WONG Hing Lin, Dennis Beneficial owner 3,782,500 (L)

PAN/NG] HEF EmEEA

Company WONG Wai Ming Beneficial owner 500,000 (L)

PN/NG] =& EmEaA

Company WANG Arthur Minshiang Beneficial owner 312,500 (L)

/NG| F & EnEEA

Company TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius Beneficial owner 625,000 (L)

PAN/NC] A ZEDT BB A

Company Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS Beneficial owner 312,500 (L)

AR B24A A

Notes: PHEE -

(1) The letter “L" represents the Director's interests in the shares. (1) [L) ThEESERRHO P 2 o

(2) Details of the above underlying shares are set out in the paragraph headed (2)

"Directors' rights to acquire shares or debentures".

-

Lg}yﬁ R 2 B8R [EEBE RN BT ERN ]
T o

}
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Directors' interests in shares, underlying shares

and debentures of the Company and its associated

corporations (Continued)

(c) Interests and short positions in the debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations
As at 30 April 2011, none of the Directors and chief executive of
the Company had interests or short positions in the debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Directors’ rights to acquire shares or debentures

(1) Movement of the options granted by the Company to the Directors
under the Scheme during the year under review was set out in the
paragraph headed "Share options and share option scheme" above.

(2)  Pursuant to an offer letter dated 4 November 2008 from RGS,
a wholly owned subsidiary of Roly International, to Mr. Michel
BOURLON, a former director of the Company, RGS granted
options to Mr. Bourlon to purchase from RGS up to 6,500,000
ordinary shares of the Company subject to and upon the terms
and conditions stated therein. During the year under review, Mr.
Bourlon exercised his option to purchase 2,166,667 shares of the
Company from RGS. As at 30 April 2011, there was no outstanding
option to acquire shares of the Company from RGS.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year under review was
the Company, or any of its holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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ESREROHESF ZER
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27 R PR S B A L3 [ A AR A R R
A —E -

2 BER-ZEZNF+—ANBZEEEZ
% & [ff B 2 RIRGS[A 2N A 7] B ¥ = Michel
BOURLONSE &4 3 i 2 Z 49 (K 4+ + RGSE. A
E [MBourlonst A& &% L BB L - AT AR5 Bk 14
FIT 168 38 X {6 14 MIRGSEE E & %6,500,000
AR AT E BN - REEEE R - Bourlon
EEBITHEEBRE - MRGSHE AR Al
2,166,667 ik c RZE——F WA =+
H - WA RRGSHE B AR & kD 2 BBk
BARTTEE ©
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Substantial shareholders and other persons who FEBRRRBEEHRBEFHIEXVE
are required to disclose their interests pursuant to ZAREEZzHMAL
Part XV of the SFO

(a) Substantial shareholders of the Company (a) ADFRZEERR
As at 30 April 2011, the following shareholders (other than the RZZE——FMA=+H ' THIKRE (ER
Directors and chief executive of the Company whose interests RRA 2RO RBERN 2 ERRKED
and short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the R EXZARREESRITEREBHRIN) B
Company are set out above) had interests or short positions in the Z'»‘AﬂZ%T’\&*E RN ERATLAR
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the RABRBEFF RPEROIFEBEFEZE
register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of st zEmgok R
the SFO:
Approximate
Number of percentage of
shares of the interests as at
Name of substantial shareholders Capacity Company held 30 April 2011
(Note 1)
R-ZB——F
BEALATE MA=t+HZ
FTERRER 514 RO EE EEHMOBEI
(BRFEET)
RGS Beneficial owner 431,220,000 (L) 63.13%
ERBERAA
Roly International Beneficial owner 45,815,619 (L) 6.71%
T RIE R EmEEA

Interest of controlled
corporation (Note 2) 431,220,000 (L) 63.13%
SPEHEE s (MiEE2)

Rl Holdings Bermuda Limited Interest of controlled
corporations (Note 2) 477,035,619 (L) 69.84%
XEthEE s (EE2)

Rl Investment Holdings Bermuda Limited Interest of controlled
corporations (Note 2) 477,035,619 (L) 69.84%
REEE s (M)

}
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Substantial shareholders and other persons who

are required to disclose their interests pursuant to
Part XV of the SFO (Continued)

FTERRRREEZ RPE KD EXVE
ARBERESm 2 HMAL @

(a) Substantial shareholders of the Company (Continued) (a) ARAFRZEERR (&)
Approximate
Number of percentage of
shares of the interests as at
Name of substantial shareholders Capacity Company held 30 April 2011
(Note 1)
R=-TB——Ff
BEALAH MA=+HZ
FTERRER ) R EE EafidEs L
(FEE1)
Megastar Interest of controlled
corporations (Note 2) 477,035,619 (L) 69.84%
R AR Em (FE2)
RI'Investment Holdings, Ltd. Interest of controlled
corporations (Note 2) 477,035,619 (L) 69.84%
RiEtEEc Em (FEE2)
One Principle Development Limited Interest of controlled
corporations (Note 2) 477,035,619 (L) 69.84%
REHDER s (MisE2)
CHIM Pui Chung Interest of controlled
EEE corporations (Note 2) 477,035,619 (L) 69.84%
REHDER 2w (MisE2)
Notes: B
(1) The letter “L" represents the entity's interests in the shares. (1) [L] e BRI 2 s o
(2) As at 30 April 2011, (i) RGS, a wholly owned subsidiary of Roly International, (2 R-ZZE—FWNA=1+H " ((ZEBEEZ22EKB AR

owned 431,220,000 shares of the Company, representing approximately
63.13% of the issued share capital of the Company; and (ii) Roly International
owned 45,815,619 shares of the Company, representing approximately 6.71%
of the issued share capital of the Company. Roly International is wholly
owned by Rl Holdings Bermuda Limited. Rl Holdings Bermuda Limited is held
by Rl Investment Holdings Bermuda Limited as to 92.7% and by Megastar
as to 0.73%. Rl Investment Holdings Bermuda Limited is held by each of Rl
Investment Holdings, Ltd. and Megastar as to 45.22% and 54.78% respectively.
Rl Investment Holdings, Ltd. is wholly owned by One Principle Development
Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. CHIM Pui Chung. Megastar is wholly
owned by Mr. WANG Lu Yen. Mr. WANG Lu Yen, a Director, is also a director of
RGS, Roly International, Rl Holdings Bermuda Limited, Rl Investment Holdings
Bermuda Limited and Megastar.

~ 46

Linmark Group Limited

Annual Report 2011

RGSHEH 431,220 000fX R A AR fD (A AR RIE BITARA
#963.1300 ¢ Fa(ii) 2 B 7 5 45,815,619 AR A Rl AR 7 -
AR R B EITIRAK6.71% ° 2 B B FX BRI Holdings
Bermuda LimitedZ=&# 4 ° Rl Holdings Bermuda Limited7>
BIEERI Investment Holdings Bermuda Limited &2 Megastarfs &
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Substantial shareholders and other persons who

are required to disclose their interests pursuant to

Part XV of the SFO (Continued)

(b) Other persons who are required to disclose their
interests pursuant to Part XV of the SFO
Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed "Directors' interests
in shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations” and paragraph (a) above, as at 30
April 2011, no other person had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which are required
to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO.

Related party transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken
during the year under review are disclosed in Note 36 to the financial
statements. Save as disclosed below, these related party transactions
fall under the definition of a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction, but are exempt from the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders' approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Connected transactions

The following transaction between a connected person (as defined in
the Listing Rules) and the Company constitutes a continuing connected
transaction under the Listing Rules and is subject to the announcement,
reporting and annual review requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The transaction has been entered into and is ongoing
for which relevant announcement had been made by the Company in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Continuing connected transaction relating to
Linmark (HK) Limited

On 15 April 2011,
agreement (“Tenancy Agreement") with Sky Fame Group Limited

Linmark (HK) Limited entered into a tenancy

("Sky Fame") whereby Sky Fame agreed to lease to Linmark (HK)
Limited Flat 85 on 9/F. and Flat 85 on 10/F, Tower 15, Hong Kong
Parkview and Carpark Space Nos. 1026 and 1040 of Entrance
1 (Level 6), 88 Tai Tam Reservoir Road, Hong Kong on a fully-
furnished basis for a term of 24 months commencing on 1 May
2011, provided that both Linmark (HK) Limited and Sky Fame has
an option to terminate the Tenancy Agreement by giving two
months' notice to the other party in writing. The monthly rent
(exclusive of rates and government rent) payable by Linmark (HK)
Limited to Sky Fame under the Tenancy Agreement is HK$200,000.

FERREBREFESRBPE KA EXVES
AFEEZZHMAL @
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FE3EFEZECM 2 EEIORR ©

BREALRS

ARBEFENETHNERAREALRZZNUH
WEW AT - B T XAREES - IhFH
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Connected transactions (continued)
Continuing connected transaction relating to
Linmark (HK) Limited (Continued)
The entire issued share capital of Sky Fame is owned as to 50%
by Mr. WANG Lu Yen, an executive Director, the chairman and
the chief executive officer of the Company and a director of Sky
Fame, and as to 50% by his spouse. Accordingly, Sky Fame is an
associate of Mr. Wang and a connected person of the Company.

The above continuing connected transaction will commence in the year
ending 30 April 2012. The Company will comply with the reporting and
annual review requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
due course.

Directors' interests in contracts

Save as disclosed above and in Note 36(a) to the financial statements,
no contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business to
which the Company, any of its holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year under review.

Major customers and vendors of the Group

During the year under review, the five largest customers of the Group
in aggregate accounted for approximately 66.8% of the turnover of the
Group and the largest customer accounted for approximately 24.3% of
the turnover of the Group.

The five largest vendors of the Group in aggregate accounted for
approximately 16.9% of the Group's total shipment volume placed by the
Group and the largest vendor accounted for approximately 4.3% of the
Group's total shipment value placed by the Group.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or any shareholders of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
500 of the issued share capital of the Company) had any interest in the
top five vendors or customers noted above.

Purchase, sale or redemption of the Company's

listed securities
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's securities during the year under review.
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Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's bye-
laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Financial summary

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on pages 144 and 145 of the
annual report.

Corporate governance

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the Company are
set out in the section headed "Corporate Governance Report" on pages
19 to 34.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date prior to the
issue of this annual report, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float throughout the year under review.

Auditors

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Ernst &
Young who will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint Ernst
& Young as auditors of the Company to hold office until conclusion of
the next annual general meeting at a fee to be agreed with the Directors.

On behalf of the Board

WANG Lu Yen
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 15 July 2011
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Independent Auditors’ Report
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Ell ERNST & YOUNG
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Ernst & Young

18th Floor

Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street, Central

Hong Kong

Tel: +852 2846 9888
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EE &Rt 0287 1818
FEE: +852 2846 9888

{52 +852 2868 4432
www.ey.com

Fax: +852 2868 4432
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
To the shareholders of Linmark Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Linmark Group
Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (together, the "Group") set
out on pages 52 to 143, which comprise the consolidated and company
statements of financial position as at 30 April 2011, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors' responsibility for the consolidated

financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
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Auditors' responsibility (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the
entity's preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 30
April 2011, and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
15 July 2011
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Consolidated Income Statement

=~ Nz
ARAWa

Year ended 30 April 2011
HE-ZT——FHNA=THILFE

2011 2010
—B——F —E-TF
Note us$‘ooo US$'000
=2 FEEw FETT
REVENUE Wz 5 95,763 93,526
Cost of sales $HEE B AN (72,791) (67,200)
Gross profit EF 22,972 26,326
Other income Haplg A 5 1,367 2,525
General and administrative expenses —RITE X (22,007) (25,647)
Gain on liquidation of a subsidiary —RMBAREEZ W 32 = 5,255
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMBA R 2 M= 31 13 =
Loss on deregistration of branches 2R REUEM 2 BE - (1,036)
Restructuring costs BHER (1,556) (1,362)
Share of loss of a jointly-controlled entity — fE{5 —K L RIIEHIEEE 2 8 2) (4)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R F5R A S5 6 787 6,057
Income tax expense PSR X 9 (142) (138)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERH 645 5,919
Attributable to: AT &5 PG
Owners of the Company RABHEA A 10 645 5919
Non-controlling interest FEPE R S - -
645 5,919
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE RATIERREREEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF FE1E TR F
THE COMPANY (expressed in US cent) (LAZEMLZ7F)) 1
Basic HR 0.1 0.9
Diluted g 0.1 0.9

Details of the dividends to shareholders of the Company are set out in

Note 12 to the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

/\"T\ = %EJ’I

Year ended 30 April 2011
HE_Z——FNA=THILFE

2011 2010
—E——F —T—FF
US$'000 US$'000
Fxx F=7T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F 2w Al 645 5919
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME HzmmigA
Exchange differences: PEH ZF
Translation of foreign operations MEBINETS (144) (598)
Reclassification adjustments included in the stAGAEWERZ
consolidated income statement BEHHEAR
- gain on liquidation of a subsidiary — —XMBARER 2 K= - (1,824)
- loss on deregistration of branches — DR AIBUHEEM 2 E51E - 1,036
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEHMEHEEIR (144) (1,386)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR FEEAERAES 501 4,633
Attributable to: A& FE(S -
Owners of the Company ZN/NGIE/ZS DN 501 4,533
Non-controlling interest FEE AR = =
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR FEEERALR 501 4,533

}
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

wra IR
As at 30 April 2011
R-E——FWA=+H

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Note us$'ooo US$'000
o= FEx FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% -~ BB KRG 13 360 786
Intangible assets EHEE 14 26,333 26,333
Available-for-sale financial asset AHEESREE 15 84 84
Investment in a jointly-controlled entity R—RERIEHEREZ2IKE 17 13 15
Deferred tax assets RIETRIBE 2 18 109 94
Total non-current assets EMBEELTE 26,899 27,312
CURRENT ASSETS mENE E
Inventories FE 19 25 69
Trade receivables JEUE 5 BR R 20 5,061 5,324
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables JENFRIE « & M EMEKFIE 21 2,774 7,422
Cash and cash equivalents He MBS EMEIEE 22 17,538 20,953
Total current assets MENE E AR 25,398 33,768
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENBE
Trade payables FERTE SRR 23 6,672 5,371
Accruals and other payables FEETE R I Bt F& 1< 5R1E 24 6,313 10,410
Balance of consideration payable for W EERT B A ) 2 FE1
acquisitions of subsidiaries REHRE 26 - 1,149
Tax payable e T I8 1,413 1,771
Total current liabilities mEE G 14,398 18,701
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENE EFE 11,000 15,067
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERTDEE 37.899 42,379
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FRBEE
Post-employment benefits 18 B iR IREF 27 1,151 1,254
Total non-current liability BB EETE 1,151 1,254
Net assets BEFE 36,748 41,125
EQUITY -2
Issued capital BEITIRAR 28 13,661 13,500
Reserves e 30(a) 23,087 27,625
Equity attributable to owners of ViN/NETEZZ =N
the Company e REES 36,748 41,125
Non-controlling interest JEFE R - -
TOTAL EQUITY b Y GG 36,748 41,125

WANG Lu Yen E1%RE

Director &%
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ARmEEHR

/\"T\

Year ended 30 April 2011
HE-ZT——FNA=THILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARRERNEL
Share Capital  Exchange Non-
Issued Share option Special  redemption  fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital ~ premium reserve  reserved reserve reserve  earnings Total interest equity
BEfT e EAEE  ERED 22
Ra RipaE I i #E  REEN At BE EEOE
Note US§000  US§000  USS000  USS000  US$0o0  US§000  US$000  US§000  US§000  US$'000
i TR TEr TR TR TR TEr TEm TR TEm TER
At 1 May 2009 RZFENERA-A 13,500 21,632 340 184 48 680 2618 39,002 - 39,002
Profit for the year EREN - - - - - - 5319 5919 - 591
Other comprehensive income for theyear: ~ EEEMZEMA :
Exchange differences on translation BREENERY
of foreign operations EHEE - - = - - (1,386) - (1,386) - (1,386)
Total comprehensive income(loss) EE2AAN/(BB)
for the year k) - - - - - (1,386) 5919 4533 - 4533
Equity-settled share option arrangements SARRHES {2 BB e A bi - - 150 - - - - 150 - 150
Share options lapsed|cancelled FREEM/HHZ
during the year iR = - (195) - - - 195 - - -
Final 2009 dividend paid BNZSZAERERE - - - - - - (o9 (1909 - (1909
Interim 2010 dividend paid B-E-ZEnERE - - - - - - (651) (651) = (651)
At 30 April 2010 R-E-ZEMA=TA 13500 21632 29 184 @8 (706) 6172 4125 - B
At 1 May 2010 RZZ-ZFRA-A 13500 21632 295 184 4@ (706) 6172 41,125 -
Profit for the year gt - - - - - - 645 645 - 645
Other comprehensive income for the year: ~ EEEMZEMA :
Exchange differences on translation BEENER,
of foreign operations ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ - - - - - (144) - (144) - (144)
Total compreensive income/(loss FE2ENA/(BB)
for the year &8 - - - - - (144) 645 501 - 501
Issue of shares Bkl 81 1,068 = = = = s 1,149 = 1,149
Exercise of share options TlEs R 29 80 11 Ul - - - - 84 - 84
Equity-settled share option arrangements IARRHE S A 7 BB AR e 29 = = 58 = = = = 58 = 58
Share options lapsed during the year ERB LR ERE - - (123) - = = 123 5 = .
Final 2010 dividend paid ERZE-SERERSE - - - - - - (658) (658) - (655)
Special 2010 dividend paid ENZE-E5RIRE - - - - - - M) () - 5w
Interim 2011 dividend paid B -E-——Enfke - - - - - - (272) (272) = (272)
At 30 April 2011 RZZ--£MA=1H 13,661 2,M 223 184 48 (850) m 36,748 - 36,748
# Special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of share capital # R B A E AR R B BATIRAE E SRR R]E 18 A

of the Company issued and the aggregate amount of nominal value of share capital

of subsidiaries acquired by the Company through an exchange of shares.

LB TAE 2B RRIRAE EAEZ 5 -

}
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FAEHESRER

Year ended 30 April 2011

HE-_Z——FNA=1THItFE

2011 2010
—E2——F —T-TF
Note US$'000 Us$'000
BsE SE FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES & %M rBEERE
Profit before tax: BREE AR A : 787 6,057
Adjustments for: R
Share of loss of a jointly-controlled entity Bl —FRELREEHIT L 7 H5E 2 4
Interest income FEWA 5 (5) (53)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, HEWE  BEREEER
plant and equipment ZE8B (W) 6 (191) 23
Gain on liquidation of a subsidiary —RM B AR EEZ W 6 - (5,.255)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RWB AR 2 K= 6 (13) -
Loss on deregistration of branches 2R RBUBEM 2 E5tE 6 = 1,036
Depreciation WE 6 403 767
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEH 6 - 114
Equity-settled share option expense VABSHE S 1+ 2 BB IR A R =2 6 58 150
1,041 2,843
Decrease in inventories FERD 44 170
Decrease in trade receivables [EWE 5 BRFUR A 263 4,028
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, ENEE EEk
deposits and other receivables Hfth FEUGRIEIR D/ (3500) 4,648 (771)
Increase in trade payables FEfHE 5 BRFIE N 1,301 359
Decrease in accruals and other payables FEET B FA K H & 1<) SR IE R > (4,097) (353)
Decrease in warranty provision REARERD - (1,324)
Decrease in post-employment benefits & BRI FIE D (176) (2)
Cash generated from operations SR TSR 3,024 4,950
Tax paid [EANE2E (516) (1,008)
Net cash flows from operating activities REXTEEIR 2 F5 2,508 3,942
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEHZHERE
Interest received BUALE 5 53
Purchases of items of property, plant BEYE BEX
and equipment B (144) (407)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE  BEX
property, plant and equipment RAEEFTS FIE 365 18
Net cash inflow on disposal of HE—XHNBRARZ
a subsidiary WEMAFE 31 13 -
Net cash outflow on liquidation of —XMBRARERZ
a subsidiary WE R F5E 32 - (3,289)
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing WBEEES S (FFE)
activities WE TR 239 (3,625)
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2011 2010
—E——F —E—ZF
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE s EA RS
Proceeds from issue of shares TR FT1S 08 84 -
Dividends paid BEIRE (6,169) (2,560)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BERBMERESFE (6,085) (2,560)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReMASEEEE
CASH EQUIVALENTS B (3.338) (2,243)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FzBekBeEE
of year THH 20,953 23,674
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net  [ESR&#E) 7 /2 - H4E (77) (478)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FHR72RENIREEE
OF YEAR BEH 17,538 20,953
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND ReERFEEBEIER 2 &5
CASH EQUIVALENTS DT
Cash and bank balances He RIBTETF 17,538 20,953
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Statement of Financial Position

B 2R
As at 30 April 2011
R-E——FWA=+H

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Note US$'000 US$'000
B s FEx FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FEMBNEE
Investments in subsidiaries N B AR ZIEE 16 52,838 54,912
Total non-current assets EMENEEBRR 52,838 54,912
CURRENT ASSETS TENE B
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables ~ FEfIZUE k& K EMENZE 2] 2 31
Cash and cash equivalents HekRE&EEEE 22 95 2,293
Total current assets MEAEAT 97 2,324
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENBE
Accruals and other payables FETE P N H i e < R0 24 56 126
Total current liabilities mEAEARE 56 126
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEVE EHE 41 2,198
Net assets BEFE 52,879 57,110
EQUITY .
Issued capital BB TR A 28 13,661 13,500
Reserves EaiE 30(b) 39,218 43,610
TOTAL EQUITY eSS HA %R 52,879 57,110

WANG Lu Yen E4%E

Director &%
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Notes to the Financial Statements

P e s
30 April 2011
—F——FHmA=TH

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
Linmark Group Limited ("Company") is an investment holding
company and its subsidiaries (together with the Company are
collectively referred to as the "Group") are principally engaged in
the sales of merchandise and provision of procurement and value-
added services.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 25 January 2002 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda. The address of its registered office is
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The
Company's shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ("Stock Exchange") since 10 May
2002. In the opinion of the Directors, the holding company of the
Company is Roly International Holdings Ltd., which is incorporated
in Bermuda, and the ultimate holding company is Megastar
Holdings Limited, which is incorporated in the British Virgin
[slands.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs")
(which comprise standards and interpretations approved by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the "IASB"),
and International Accounting Standards (“IASs") and Standing
Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Committee that remain
in effect) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for an available-for-sale
financial asset, which has been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in United States dollars ("US$")
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

Basis of consolidation from 1 May 2010

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2011. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised gains and
losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are
eliminated on consolidation in full.

2.1
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation from 1 May 2010 (Continued)

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling
interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate.

Basis of consolidation prior to T May 2010

Certain of the above-mentioned requirements have been applied
on a prospective basis. The following differences, however, are
carried forward in certain instances from the previous basis of
consolidation:

° Acquisitions of non-controlling interests (formerly known
as minority interests), prior to 1 May 2010, were accounted
for using the parent entity extension method, whereby the
differences between the consideration and the book value
of the share of the net assets acquired were recognised in
goodwill.

° Losses incurred by the Group were attributed to the non-
controlling interest until the balance was reduced to nil.
Any further excess losses were attributable to the parent,
unless the non-controlling interest had a binding obligation
to cover these. Losses prior to 1 May 2010 were not
reallocated between non-controlling interest and the parent
shareholders.

° Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the
investment retained at its proportionate share of net asset
value at the date control was lost. The carrying amount of
such investment at 1 May 2010 has not been restated.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs and
new International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
("IFRIC") interpretations for the first time for the current year's
financial statements.

[FRS 1 (Revised)

I[FRS 1 Amendments

IFRS 2 Amendments

[FRS 3 (Revised)

IAS 27 (Revised)

IAS 32 Amendment

IAS 39 Amendment

[FRIC-Int 17

I[FRS 5 Amendments
included in
Improvements to
IFRSs issued
in May 2008

Improvements to
IFRSs 2009

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of
IFRS 3 (Revised), IAS 27 (Revised), amendments to IAS 7 and IAS
17 included in Improvements to IFRSs 2009, the adoption of the
new and revised IFRSs has had no significant financial effect on

First-time Adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption
of International Financial Reporting
Standards - Additional Exemptions for
First-time Adopters

Amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment - Group Cash-settled
Share-based Payment Transactions

Business Combinations

Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements

Amendment to IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation -
Classification of Rights Issues

Amendment to IAS 39 Ffinancial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement - Eligible Hedged [tems

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

Amendments to IFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations - Plan to Sell the Controlling
Interest in a Subsidiary

Amendments to a number of IFRSs issued
in April 2009

these financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES

it

—F——#mA=tA

IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised IFRSs are

as foll

(a)

OWS!:

IFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations and
IAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements

IFRS 3 (Revised) introduces a number of changes in the
accounting for business combinations that affect the initial
measurement of non-controlling interests, the accounting
for transaction costs, the initial recognition and subsequent
measurement of a contingent consideration and business
combinations achieved in stages. These changes will impact
the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in
the period that an acquisition occurs, and future reported
results.

IAS 27 (Revised) requires that a change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary without loss of control is accounted
for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such a change
will have no impact on goodwill, nor will it give rise to a
gain or loss. Furthermore, the revised standard changes
the accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as
well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. Consequential
amendments were made to various standards, including, but
not limited to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, |AS 12 Income
Taxes, |IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates, |IAS 28 Investments in Associates and |AS 31 Interests
in Joint Ventures.

The changes introduced by these revised standards
are applied prospectively and affect the accounting of
acquisitions, loss of control and transactions with non-
controlling interests after 1 May 2010.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised IFRSs are
as follows: (Continued)

(b) Improvements to IFRSs 2009 issued in April 2009 sets out
amendments to a number of IFRSs. There are separate
transitional provisions for each standard. While the
adoption of some of the amendments results in changes in
accounting policies, none of these amendments has had a
significant financial impact on the Group. Details of the key
amendments most applicable to the Group are as follows:

° IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Requires that only
expenditures that result in a recognised asset in the
statement of financial position can be classified as a
cash flow from investing activities.

° IAS 17 Leases: Removes the specific guidance on
classifying land as a lease. As a result, leases of land
should be classified as either operating or finance
leases in accordance with the general guidance in IAS
17.
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23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 BEMEEHKRERZEBRYBERS

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 28|
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs, AEERLERBHRENLREAUTE
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial BB R AR AR 2 FTE] RS RT B R B 7%
statements. HEAER o
IFRS 1 Amendment  Amendment to IFRS 1 First-time GilE s BIPR B R i 2RI 15 B AR
Adoption of International Financial ERIE15 B B 2R — B BN
Reporting Standards - Limited Exemption EHES R RE AR BHEER
from Comparative IFRS 7 Disclosures for EIRRELEEH T GRS
First-time Adopters? F B
IFRS 1 Amendments ~ Amendment to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption BIfRET S BIRR B B S AR B 5k B AR
of International Financial Reporting ERIE15R BT B 2R — BER
Standards - Severe Hyperinflation and {EETA WEBIR R 55 B KR E 2 BF
Removal of Fixed Dates for EAH 2 EFTA
First-time Adopters*
IFRS 7 Amendments ~ Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial BUPR B s s BlR B S LRI E 75 A T
Instruments: Disclosures - Transfers of LRI R RE-BZEoHEEE
Financial Assets* {BETA HEN
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments' BB i s EHTA
HERI E 9%
IAS 12 Amendments  Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes - Re AR RO ERIE 125 A2
Deferred Tax: Recovery of ERVEACHIEN —BEHE - 1A ERE
Underlying Assets® ZIBRTAS
IAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures® BB et EL BEALHRE
F245% (K£1837)
IFRIC-Int 14 Amendments to IFRIC-Int 14 Prepayments BB RS BERyBREREREGRES
Amendments of a Minimum Funding Requirement® ZEREE WRREEEHTZ RITHE
REE 145 pA N
{BETA
IFRIC-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with BIPR B s s WEmn TR EET/BE R
Equity Instruments? HEZEE
ZBE195

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 F—R—RAskz&R%RzFEREER
ZEL A— RS2 &FR 2 FEHRER
—F—-A— B ERRZEEHRRER
**itﬁl Helz & Bta 2 F & B AR
T——F-A B z&RRZFERRER

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

o s W o o

e

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012
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2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Apart from the above, the IASB has issued Improvements to
IFRSs 2010 which sets out amendments to a number of IFRSs
primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying
wording. The amendments to IFRS 3 and IAS 27 are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010, whereas the
amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IAS 1, IAS 34 and IFRIC-Int 13
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2011 although there are separate transitional provisions for each
standard.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact
of these new and revised IFRSs upon initial application. So far, the
Group considers that these new and revised IFRSs are unlikely to
have a significant impact on the Group's results of the operations
and financial position.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the
Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain benefits
from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company's income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company's investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement,
whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic
activity. The joint venture operates as a separate entity in which
the Group and the other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates the
capital contributions of the joint venture parties, the duration
of the joint venture and the basis on which the assets are to be
realised upon its dissolution. The profits or losses from the joint
venture's operations and any distributions of surplus assets are
shared by the venturers, either in proportion to their respective
capital contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the joint
venture agreement.

A joint venture is treated as:

(@) a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control, directly or
indirectly, over the joint venture;

(b) a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have
unilateral control, but has joint control, directly or indirectly,
over the joint venture;

(c) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or joint
control, but holds, directly or indirectly, generally not less
than 20% of the joint venture's registered capital and is in
a position to exercise significant influence over the joint
venture; or

(d)  an equity investment accounted for in accordance with IAS
39, if the Group holds, directly or indirectly, less than 20%
of the joint venture's registered capital and has neither
joint control of, nor is in a position to exercise significant
influence over, the joint venture.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Jointly-controlled entity

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to
joint control, resulting in none of the participating parties having
unilateral control over the economic activity of the jointly-
controlled entity.

The Group's interest in a jointly-controlled entity is stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. The Group's share of the post-
acquisition results and reserves of the jointly-controlled entity is
included in the consolidated income statement and consolidated
reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its jointly-controlled entity
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the jointly-
controlled entity, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred.

The results of a jointly-controlled entity are included in the
Company's income statement to the extent of dividends received
and receivable. The Company's investment in a jointly-controlled
entity is treated as a non-current asset and is stated at cost less
any impairment losses.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations from 1 May 2010

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair value of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer measures
the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets.
Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts by the acquiree.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Business combinations from 1 May 2010 (Continued)
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition date
through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which
is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance
with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified
as equity, it shall not be remeasured until it is finally settled within

equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the net
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 30 April. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of
the Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units)
to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is
less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued

Business combinations from 1 May 2010 (Continued)

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed
of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill
disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative
values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Business combinations prior to 1 May 2010 but after 1 May 2005

In comparison to the above-mentioned requirements which were
applied on a prospective basis, the following differences applied to
business combinations prior to 1 May 2010:

Business combinations were accounted for using the purchase
method. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
formed part of the acquisition costs. The non-controlling interest
was measured at the proportionate share of the acquiree's
identifiable net assets.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for as
separate steps. Any additional acquired share of interest did not
affect previously recognised goodwill.

When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives
separated from the host contract by the acquiree were not
reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination resulted
in a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modified
the cash flows that otherwise would have been required under the
contract.

Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if, the Group
had a present obligation, the economic outflow was more likely
than not and a reliable estimate was determinable. Subsequent
adjustments to the contingent consideration were recognised as
part of goodwill.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets and goodwill), the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset's or cash-generating unit's value in use and
its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income statement
in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the income
statement in the period in which it arises.

70

Linmark Group Limited
Annual Report 2011

2.4 FESHEERE @

FERMEEZRE
1#1,%???&/)%@&?%‘2/,\ 17 F R (B A
A (BREE  BEHREE  SREERE
BN - @?ﬁ%ﬁlﬁﬁézﬁfﬂﬁl@%{%ﬁi{’ﬁﬁﬁ
e BEZAUMOBEREESRSES
Bz REEREAFEMRIEENX
AMER RS CENE  UKEEER
BREE  BRIFZBEBEELEZREN
TRERBBYINEMEEXEEARME
EZBREBRA - ERBRT - Al EEE
NZHEEMB RS ELENERE -

BEZEREEBBEJKEHER - BE
BRI TAER - RFHAEREERR
B RRBEREFURAMBIRRFTES
HiE - DA&B%iEiLJEZi%HTm%%%&
ZEEEZRFERR - BEBBBNES
A B R M s R AN ER

REBRERREFERTEDRBETRE
FEA%HH&EW MEERA N BIFER
WML MEEERTR - AE@RE
FfﬁTHﬁZ@%Z%ﬂ’Eﬁﬁ* EREBEEZRE
EEZ A B 2 B A IR BT - TR
ﬁEu,b\Zéﬁ (MIERE) M (EEE 7 AT #
CEERENBEFEALERZREE
ﬁ%a/uﬁﬁ@ﬂﬁ - BHEREERATHEEZ
AREE < B (HIRR I E #8H) AR
BBE - ZBE R R 2 5 m 70 B 2% A B
FEAMERA




2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in the
Group that gives it significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) has joint control over the Group;

the party is an associate;
the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

the party is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or its parent;

the party is a close member of the family of any individual
referred to in (a) or (d);

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by or for which significant voting
power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any
individual referred to in (d) or (e); or

the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of the employees of the Group, or of any entity that is a
related party of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred
after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements  Over the shorter of 5 years or the
lease terms

Furniture and fixtures 3 to 5 years

Yacht and motor vehicles 5 to 10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the income
statement in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with
finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life
of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually
to determine whether indefinite life assessment continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Deferred expenditure

Deferred expenditure represents an amount incurred for renewing
a buying agency agreement and is stated at cost less any
impairment losses and is amortised using the straight-line basis
over the three-year period of the buying agency agreement.

Licence rights

Licence rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the licence period. They are initially measured as the fair
value of the consideration given to acquire the licence at the time
of the acquisition, which represents the capitalised present values
of the fixed minimum periodic payments to be made in subsequent
periods.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under
operating leases are charged to the income statement on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

2.4 FESHEERE @

BEEE (BERKRM)
DHBAZELEENBRERRIZKA
AE-BEEEZERFHARERFES
HERFHNMGE -  ERFHAERIELE
EHRZ A AEEF Y YRA
KBTERVEEARLERRER  FEHE
ERE - ERFHERZENEE 2 #iH
FHREHET L 2LEREVRFER
HEITRAT ©

EREFHER BVEERENXZRE
ELXEMOKTFEFETRENR - ZHRE
WEETTHE FHERZEVEEZ
AERFHEFETRNAETERFH
AR BB RAT o WAARIFT - AR

EH T EREREER BB RS
5 o
FEHE

BERXIEEERBREBAMELZH
B BRI ABUEARE B RS R
EREBEREGE I = FHREAEREH
8 °

FFariE

i ST TO IR A AR, R At B 55 M AT (DR B &S
BIIRENEAREARNEREEE - &
ARERTRWEER SBUSR RN
REZAFEFNE -ZAFEEERHH
e 2 BE R EE N R ZERMLEE -

ReEHEY
HAEAREEEFA #E 2 KRR [ 7 8
R HOERIERERLD - MAKE L&
M7 REEBANAEM N ZESRE
#) 2 R IA B AOR R W st 5% F F0RR o

}

HEEBERAT
T

73




Notes to the Financial Statements
B ISR aE

30 April 2011

—T——FmA=+H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, and available-for-sale financial investments, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of
its financial assets at initial recognition. When financial assets
are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in
the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss,
directly attributable transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

The Group's financial assets include an available-for-sale financial
asset, cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, and deposits
and other receivables.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
income in the income statement. The loss arising from impairment
is recognised in the income statement.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity securities. Equity
investments classified as available for sale are those which are
neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value
through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those
which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response
to changes in the market conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or
losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-
for-sale financial investment valuation reserve until the investment
is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is
recognised in the income statement in other income, or until
the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the income statement in
other expenses and removed from the available-for-sale financial
investment valuation reserve. Interest and dividends earned are
reported as interest income and dividend income, respectively
and are recognised in the income statement as other income in
accordance with the policies set out for "Revenue recognition”
below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the
probabilities of the various estimates within the range cannot
be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such
securities are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates its available-for-sale financial assets whether
the ability and intention to sell them in the near term are still
appropriate. When the Group is unable to trade these financial
assets due to inactive markets and management's intent to do so
significantly changes in the foreseeable future, the Group may
elect to reclassify these financial assets in rare circumstances.
Reclassification to loans and receivables is permitted when the
financial assets meet the definition of loans and receivables and
the Group has the intent and ability to hold these assets for the
foreseeable future or to maturity. Reclassification to the held-to-
maturity category is permitted only when the entity has the ability
and intent to hold until the maturity date of the financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the available-for-sale
category, any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been
recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the
remaining life of the investment using the effective interest rate.
Any difference between the new amortised cost and the expected
cash flows is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset
using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently
determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is
reclassified to the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “"pass-through" arrangement; and either (a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events
that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an
incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment
exists for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.
If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues
to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of
impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset's original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or
through the use of an allowance account and the amount of
the loss is recognised in the income statement. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is
accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If
a future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the
income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal
payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any
impairment loss previously recognised in the income statement, is
removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the
income statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost. The
requires
"Significant" is evaluated against the original cost of

determination of what is “"significant” or "prolonged”
judgment.
the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which the
fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is evidence
of impairment, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the
income statement - is removed from other comprehensive income
and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses on
equity instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed
through the income statement. Increases in their fair value after
impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments
in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the
classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and
in the case of loans and borrowings, plus directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables and other
payables.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 XESBERME @)
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued) TEAE @
Subsequent measurement iz E
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their TRAEEERF AT EMETE

classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings EREEE

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings REXERE  sFEERREEERFER
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective BRI EHK AT 2 - EWITER T
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be ZEFEXN BB BEREAAINE - B
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses s REBEIRBERERERE - B8
are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are B IR K DA SH AR Fr 5T A MG 3% ©

derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate method
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount BSHA AR G R FIE A M som B
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral KB ERFET] o ik — 360 B & A gk
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate RNigtE - BEREFREHG AR R0 8
amortisation is included in finance costs in the income statement. ERARA ©

Financial quarantee contracts MIEERERN

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those AEBBEHVBEREOSEZEREL
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the BENTAENEE ARSEGR AREE
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to BB ER T B 2 G50 (E & 2 B3R M R 2
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt BRZEH - MBEREAZVNIEATFE
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as WHBELERBEZERLHR M AEAE
a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are BERABE - BRERE  NEBFU
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent T ZFBEZ2RAEHMEERE HEITT
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee B (R REHRBETRBEEEMER
contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of THREBMEBEZSE : i) AERZE
the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end R R (A3 A) REr# o

of the reporting period; and (i) the amount initially recognised
less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

{i

Derecognition of financial liabilities BUEER SRS

15
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the EBERTERR R E MR - BIE
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires. HERESHARE -
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the WIRABERmEBEEKBR —EHETEK
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an FES—2cemBEER HBEBEEGEZ
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or IRFAE RNIRIEET - b Z B S FT H AR (EEX
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability HERRKRBENYERNEE  MSEA
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between SRR 2 =R PSR P ER o
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income
statement.

}
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEESFEEREHE @

POLICIES (Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if, and
only if, there is currently an enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active
markets is determined by reference to quoted market prices or
dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price
for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.
For financial instruments where there is no active market, the fair
value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. Such
techniques include using recent arm's length market transactions;
reference to the current market value of another instrument which
is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis and
other valuation models.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including
term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value
amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in the income statement.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the Group on
certain products are recognised based on sales volume and past
experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their
present values as appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and
the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

° where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@)  from the sale of merchandise, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the
buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b)  commission income, when the underlying goods procured by
the Group are shipped;

(c) from the rendering of services, reimbursement income
from customers, handling fee income and inspection and
laboratory testing income, when the services are rendered;
and

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payment transactions
The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees
render services as consideration for equity instruments ("equity-
settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of
each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group's best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the income statement for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition,
an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of
the original award, as described in the previous paragraph. All
cancellations of equity-settled transaction awards are treated
equally.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits
(i) Pension schemes
Defined contribution pension scheme
The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory

Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF
Scheme") under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees' basic salaries
and are charged to the income statement as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group's employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute 15% to 20%
of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Other employee benefits (Continued)

(i

Pension schemes (Continued)

Defined benefit pension scheme

The Group operates a defined benefit pension plan,
which requires contributions to be made to a separately
administered fund, for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the scheme. The cost of providing benefits
under the defined benefit plan is determined separately
using the projected unit credit valuation method. Actuarial
gains and losses are recognised as income or expense when
the net cumulative unrecognised actuarial gains and losses
at the end of the previous reporting year exceed 10% of
the higher of the defined benefit obligation and the fair
value of plan assets at the date. These gains and losses are
recognised over the expected average remaining working
lives of the employees participating in the plan.

The past service cost is recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits
become vested. If the benefits vest immediately following
the introduction of, or changes to, a pension plan, the past
service cost is recognised immediately.

The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present
value of the defined benefit obligation less past service cost
not yet recognised and less the fair value of plan assets out
of which the obligations are to be settled. Plan assets are
assets that are held by a long term employee benefit fund or
qualifying insurance policies. Plan assets are not available to
the creditors of the Group nor can they be paid directly to
the Group. Fair value is based on market price information
and in the case of quoted securities it is the published bid
price. The value of any defined benefit asset recognised
is restricted to the sum of any past service cost not yet
recognised and the present value of any economic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions
in future contributions to the plan.

An actuarial estimate is made by a professionally qualified
independent actuary, using the projected unit credit
actuarial valuation method, of the present value of the
Group's future defined benefit obligation under the defined
benefit pension plan earned by the employees as at the end
of the reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Other employee benefits (Continued)

(i) Employee leave entitlements
The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees under
their employment contracts on a calendar year basis. Under
certain circumstances, such leave which remains untaken
as at the end of the reporting period is permitted to be
carried forward and utilised by the respective employees
in the following year. An accrual is made at the end of the
reporting period for the expected future cost of such paid
leave earned during the year by the employees and carried
forward.

(iii)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated before the normal retirement date or whenever
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits
when it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating
the employment of current employees according to a
detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or
providing termination benefits as a result of an office made
to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due
more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period
are discounted to their present value.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the Directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section of
the statement of financial position, until they have been approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends
have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they are
recognised as a liability.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in United States dollars,
which is the Company's functional and presentation currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. All differences are taken to the income
statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
a jointly-controlled entity are currencies other than the United
States dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation
currency of the Company at the exchange rates ruling at the
end of the reporting period and their income statements are
translated into United States dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation,
the component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries and a jointly-controlled entity
are translated into United States dollars at the exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries and a jointly-controlled entity which
arise throughout the year are translated into United States dollars
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

~ 88

Linmark Group Limited

Annual Report 2011

2.4 FESTHEHERE @

ShE

AFBHRETIAETT (BIARRZERZ
SIEHE) 25 c ARERREBRTETH
DEER FASERMBBEZRET
UZhee B’ SIE - AEEBE T ERMC
BZINERFGERERSERERAZER
BENREERER AR - INEFIRZ
EREENBARRSBRERAZYEE
KERSHRE - MAZEH ST Al
R AINEESLRAFTEZFERHBZ
BERRZEBZERBE - AINERT(E
AEZERRBARAEEAFEER
ZERGH -

ETHENNIBRARRAEREHNERIAET
MM EEENREE R - RI|EHKR © &%
FERZEENBECDEBSBRERZ
ERBED/ARARZEZINERE  MKFLZ
WaReBRFANMETFOESTBRERX
T HUELAZERZBEARMEEWA
TRER - WHEINERBFEET R - HE
BINEKE - Hib2EBATBBZER
TEAINRIF D R W e 5% T FERR

BEARERERME @ BINMNBRRR
AARHEB R RERASREESL
AHMERZERBERET - BINER
ARARAZEHEBRBEFEELZKE
MRERERFAZNEFOERBLER
RTT e




SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the
end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make
an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The
carrying amount of goodwill at 30 April 2011 was US$26,333,000
(2010: US$26,333,000). More details are given in Note 14 to the
financial statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling prices
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated selling expenses.
These estimates are based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of selling products of similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in economic conditions
in places where the Group operates, changes in customer taste and
competitor actions in response to change in market conditions.
Management reassesses these estimates at the end of each
reporting period. The carrying amount of inventories as at 30 April
2011 was US$25,000 (2010: US$69,000).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group's management determines the provision for impairment
of trade receivables based on an assessment of the recoverability
of the receivables. This assessment is based on the credit history
of its customers and other debtors and the current market
condition which requires the use of judgments and estimates.
When the expectation on the recoverability of trade and
other receivables is different from the original estimates, such
difference will impact the carrying value of trade receivables and
impairment provisions in the periods in which such estimate has
been changed. Management assesses the provision at the end of
each reporting period. The carrying amounts of trade receivables
and other receivables as at 30 April 2011 was US$5,061,000
(2010: US$5,324,000) and US$1,717,000 (2010: US$6,558,000),
respectively. More details are given in Notes 20 and 21 to the
financial statements.

Income tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required in determining the amount of the
provision for tax and the timing of payment of the related taxes.
There are transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact on the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
periods in which such determination is made. The carrying amount
of deferred tax assets as at 30 April 2011 was US$109,000 (2010:
US$94,000).

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses carried
forward to the extent that it is probable (i.e., more likely than
not) that future taxable profits will be available against which
the unused tax losses can be utilised, based on all available
evidence. Recognition primarily involves judgment regarding the
future performance of the particular legal entity or tax group in
which the deferred tax asset has been recognised. A variety of
other factors are also evaluated in considering whether there is
convincing evidence that it is probable that some portion or all
of the deferred tax assets will ultimately be realised, such as the
existence of taxable temporary differences, tax planning strategies
and the periods in which estimated tax losses can be utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets and related financial
models and budgets are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and to the extent that there is insufficient convincing
evidence that sufficient taxable profits will be available within
the utilisation periods to allow utilisation of the tax losses carried
forward, the asset balance will be reduced and charged to the
income statement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of an available-for-sale financial asset

The Group classifies certain assets as available for sale and
recognises movements of their fair values in equity. When the fair
value declines, management makes assumptions about the decline
in value to determine whether there is an impairment that should
be recognised in the income statement. At 30 April 2011, no
impairment losses have been recognised for the available-for-sale
financial asset (2010: Nil). The carrying amount of the available-
for-sale financial asset was approximately US$84,000 (2010:
US$84,000). More details are given in Note 15 to the financial
statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has two reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@) sales of merchandise including garments, labels and
consumer electronic products; and

(b)  provision of services including procurement service and
value-added services relating to the procurement agency
business.

Management monitors the results of its operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit, which is a measure
of adjusted profit before tax from continuing operations. The
adjusted profit before tax from continuing operations is measured
consistently with the Group's profit before tax from continuing
operations except that interest income, gain on disposal of a
yacht, gain on disposal and liquidation of subsidiaries, loss on
deregistration of branches, restructuring costs, share of loss of
a jointly-controlled entity as well as head office and corporate
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. RETEER ®

Sales of Provision
merchandise of services Total
EmiEE R IR a5t
Year ended 30 April 2011 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
BE-Z——FSMA=1+HLEE FTEx FEx FEx
Segment revenue: S B
Revenue from external customers  REINRE P 2 Wz 80,577 15,186 95,763
Segment results VaEE 31 1,023 1,452 2,475
Interest income F 2 WA 5
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RWE ARz Wz 13
Gain on disposal of a yacht o — AR 2 e 192
Restructuring costs HHER (1,556)
Share of loss of a jointly-controlled FE{G—Z% L [A]42 4l F £
entity 2 518 (2)
Corporate and other unallocated PR EAMRDER
expenses FZ (340)
Profit before tax BR A% Al g A 787
Income tax expense PGB (142)
Profit for the year F A 645
Other segment information: HibpEEHR :
Depreciation e 189 214 403
Capital expenditures BEARFAL 53 91 144
Impairment of trade receivables FEWE 5 IR FRVE 50 308 358

.
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

4, RESWERE @)

Sales of Provision
merchandise of services Total
EEEEEkS R AR B
Year ended 30 April 2010 US$'000 us$'ooo Us$'o00
HEZT - ZFNA=THILFE FET FET FET
Segment revenue: SEWRE
Revenue from external customers 2R BINAEF 2 Wz 75,968 17,558 93,526
Segment results DHEEE 2,900 817 3,717
Interest income F 2 WA 53
Gain on liquidation of a subsidiary ~—ZX i B RA TSR 2 Yz 5,255
Loss on deregistration of branches /A B BUH 1 < E5i8 (1,036)
Restructuring costs EHER (1.362)
Share of loss of a jointly-controlled  [fE{5 — 5% £ [F 2 | & A2
entity 2 518 (4)
Corporate and other unallocated EREAMARDER
expenses R (566)
Profit before tax BR A% Al g A 6,057
Income tax expense PGB X (138)
Profit for the year FE 5 F 5919
Other segment information: HttpEEHR :
Depreciation e 340 427 767
Amortisation of intangible assets B B 30 84 114
Capital expenditures VN 206 201 407
Impairment of trade receivables FENE 5 IR FRVE 31 355 386
Product warranty provision EmiR AR 77 - 77
}
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. REFFER @
Geographical information b 35 & R

(a) Revenue from external customers @) REINARPE ZWz
2011 2010
—ZET——F —T—TF
US$'000 US$'000
FEn FET
Australia N 32,128 26,828
Africa FEM 21,072 19,275
Europe &M 18,816 20,328
North America 1b =M 9,509 11,590
Hong Kong BB 1,100 2,085
Others Hip 13,138 13,420
95,763 93,526

The revenue information above is based on the location of

the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

B mERDREEFAEMZ
5]

(b) FERBEE

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF

US$'000 US$'000

FTEx FET

Hong Kong BB 26,407 26,827
Others Hip 299 307
26,706 27,134

The non-current assets information above is based on
the location of assets and excludes an available-for-sale

financial asset and deferred tax assets.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4.

Information about major customers
Revenue from major customers, each of them amounted to 10% or
more of the Group's revenue is set out below:

KREFBWER )
ERIERF2ER

REEFEXRF (B2ZERFPOAEE KR
10%3K A £ ) 2 z=& 5T

Operating segment 2011 2010

EEDH —®-——%  -T-TF

US$'000 US$'000

Fxx TE7xT

Customer A Sales of merchandise 23,290 19,008
ZEA B iHE

Customer B Sales of merchandise 21,098 19,217
=B B iHE

Customer C Sales of merchandise 9,411 12,834
gFC 7 msHE

53,799 51,059

}
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5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 58

Revenue, which is also the Group's turnover, represents the net
invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for returns and
trade discounts; commission income and the value of services
rendered.

An analysis of the Group's revenue and other income is as follows:

W 2 B2 H At U A
ARBZRATAREEEEE  DHiEE
HERMREREHITNG 2 ERFE
S YA RIB LIRS OB -

AREE 2 Was M EMBAZ AT

2011 2010
—E——F —T—ZF
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Revenue &

Sales of merchandise EmiHE 80,577 75,967
Commission income el A 15,113 17,422
Rendering of services R AR 73 137
95,763 93,526

Other income Hib A
Bank interest income IRITH B HA 5 53
Reimbursement income from customers REBEFEHERBA 20 34
Handling fee income FHEBEWA 362 233
Inspecting and laboratory test income 25 M EBREREBA 449 411
Compensation from customers RERFZMHE - 1,200
Others Hith 531 594
1,367 2,525
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6.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

6. BRBLADER

AN ER B 2 BR B Ak A T &

SHIB(GEA) A

(crediting): T&IE :
2011 2010
—B——fF —E-ZF
Note US$'000 US$'000
B 5E FEx FET
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEEZKA 71,860 65,950
Cost of services provided EIR AR TS 2 AR 931 1,250
- including product warranty expenses — BREEMRBRX 25 - 77
Depreciation e 13 403 767
Amortisation of intangible assets A Y 14 - 114
Minimum lease payments under LEHE N RELE
operating leases: MERK :
Furniture and equipment N ET 124 136
Office premises and staff quarters MAREMRETIES 1,548 1,584
1,672 1,720
Auditors' remuneration® % Gl
Audit services EZ RS
- current year — KRFEE 313 398
- overprovision in prior years — BEFEBRERE (55) =
Non-audit services IEEZ RIS 110 102
368 500
Employee benefit expense EE @A
(including Directors' remuneration (BEEENE
- Note 7): — P¥EE7) -
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e - TEAT N EBEh 13,640 15,757
Staff welfare and benefits B TEH kit 1,548 1,507
Equity-settled share option expense i m i E BRI 58 150
Pension scheme contributions” B ETEIER
- defined contribution scheme — FREMZETE 382 307
- defined benefit plans — EREENEE 14 81
15,742 17,802
Foreign exchange differences, net b X RS R (47) 194
Impairment of trade receivables EWE ZERFORE 20 358 386
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, HEE  ME K& &M
plant and equipment BEZEE(Ke) (191) 23
Gain on liquidation of a subsidiary —ZXMBARER 2 WE 32 (5,255)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—XRWBA AR Wz 31 (13) =
Loss on deregistration of branches A AR BUHEM 2 BE = 1,036
* Of the above audit and non-audit services fees, US$315,000 (2010: * £ L BEZ RIEEZRBERSF - 5515315000

US$398,000) and US$103,000 (2010: US$102,000) respectively are payable to

the Company's auditors.

At 30 April 2011, the Group had no material forfeited contributions available
to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future years (2010: Nil).

En(ZT—TF
(ZF—FF:
&l o

© 398,0003 7T ) 103,000 7T
102,0003€70) FEfT F AR A% &

R-F——FMA=+H AEBEIJERL
BUGE RS AR R RS (ZF—FF :

) o
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7. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 7. EEHTHN
Directors' remuneration for the vyear, disclosed pursuant to the AEFREZE EMRARESRQAHEGIZE 161
Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies BAETIREZESHMAT -
Ordinance, is as follows:
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
us$‘ooo Us$'000
Group REE SEESTT FET
Fees e 132 156
Other emoluments: Hii$ -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYAS 1.844 1,093
Performance related bonus FIRHEHTEAT - 67
Employee share option benefits & B Bkt A 33 62
Pension scheme contributions RIREETEI K 66 63
1,943 1,285
Total st 2,075 1,441

.
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7. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued) 7. E%iﬁ@ﬂ (4
Certain Directors were granted share options in respect of their HETEZEER Fi%ﬁ$§.}5ﬁk1 Zﬁlﬁ%
services to the Group under the share option scheme of the 5’é&$ AIRERIETEIIE T c EARRE - &
Company, further details of which are set out in Note 29 to the i//ﬁ’%ﬁﬁé?ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ 7529 - ZEBAR
financial statements. The fair value of such options which has B2 ATEDRRLAMER]  YERE
been recognised in the income statement over the vesting period, %%@WEW@%W@% &t A E E B
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included ﬁﬁ%ZﬁgﬁﬂfﬁE@%B’t\ X 2 & = H
in the financial statements for the current year is included in the HWEA o
above Directors' remuneration disclosures.
The emoluments of each Director are set out below: BREZ2MEeHFINT
Salaries, Employee
allowances Performance share Pension
and benefits related option scheme Total
Fees in kind bonus benefits contributions remuneration
- 4011 &5 BERRRE BASE
e RENFZ HHRL &R fit5 B
Hz-3—-& US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
Year ended 30 April 2011 MA=THLEFE TEL TEL TEL T S TEr
Executive Directors: HITES .
WANG Lu Yen (i) FHE() - 332 - 5 10 347
WONG Hing Lin, Dennis (ii EEE(i) - 3n - 7 19 397
Michel BOURLON (iii) Michel BOURLON (iii) - 1,057 - 5 33 1,095
KHOO Kim Cheng (iv) PSR iv) - 84 - 4 4 92
Non-executive Director: FHTES
WONG Wai Ming L 33 - - 5 - 38
Independent non-executive Directors: B FHTES
WANG Arthur Minshiang THH 33 - - 3 - 36
TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius MEDT 33 - - 1 - 34
Jakob Jacobus Jakob Jacobus
Koert TULLENERS Koert TULLENERS 33 - - 3 - 36
132 1,844 - 33 66 2,075
HEZT-ZF
Year ended 30 April 2010 mA=+ Elﬁif‘i
Executive Directors: HITEE:
WANG Lu Yen () () - 332 = 6 10 348
Michel BOURLON (iii) Michel BOURLON (iii) - 661 67 20 48 796
KHOO Kim Cheng (iv) EBERR(v) - 100 - 20 5 125
Non-executive Directors: FHTEES .
WONG Wai Ming =IEH 33 - - 6 - 39
Mark HSU (v) xvez]l) 2 = = = = 24
Independent non-executive Directors: BY FHTES :
WANG Arthur Minshiang THF 33 - - 4 = 37
TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius MEDT 33 - - 2 - 35
Jakob Jacobus Jakob Jacobus
Koert TULLENERS Koert TULLENERS 33 - - 4 - 37
156 1,093 67 62 63 1,441

}
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7. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued)

Notes:

(i) Mr. WANG Lu Yen was appointed chief executive officer with effect from 8
October 2010.

(i) Mr. WONG Hing Lin, Dennis was appointed executive Director with effect from
1 September 2010 but his full year's remuneration package has been included
as Director's emolument.

(i) Mr. Michel BOURLON resigned as executive Director and chief executive
officer with effect from 8 October 2010. His employment with the Company
was terminated with effect from 7 January 2011. The amount stated in
salaries, allowances and benefits in kind included payments on termination of
employment.

(iv) Mr. KHOO Kim Cheng retired by rotation as executive Director with effect
from 27 August 2010 and resigned as employee under the Director's
service agreement with the Company with effect from 28 February 2011.
The Director's emolument included the remuneration paid to him up to 28
February 2011 when the Director's service agreement with the Company was
terminated.

(v) Mr. Mark HSU resigned as non-executive Director with effect from 18 January
2010.

There was no arrangement under which a Director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2010: Nil).

During the year ended 30 April 2011, no emolument (2010:
US$67,000) as inducement to join the Group was paid to Mr.
Michel BOURLON and as at 30 April 2011, no emolument (2010:
US$66,000) was receivable by Mr. Bourlon as inducement to join
the Group.

Pursuant to an offer letter dated 4 November 2008 from RGS
Holdings Limited ("RGS"), a controlling shareholder of the
Company, to Mr. Michel BOURLON, in consideration of Mr. Bourlon
entering into an employment agreement with the Company for his
employment as the chief executive officer and executive Director,
RGS had agreed to grant options to Mr. Bourlon to purchase from
RGS up to 6,500,000 ordinary shares of the Company subject to
and upon the terms and conditions stated therein. As at 30 April
2011, Mr. Bourlon had exercised all his options to acquire 6,500,000
shares of the Company from RGS.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 30 April 2011, no
emolument was paid to or receivable by any of the Directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office as a director of any member of the Group or of
any other office in connection with the management of the Group
(2010: Nil).
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8. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 8. HfUERESHFMES

The five highest paid employees during the year included three FRNAMNGEaFMEERE=( (ZE—F
(2010: two) Directors, details of whose remuneration are set out F M) BF 0 ERNESFBEEN X
in Note 7 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining two 7°FA BRRM (ZFE—FF : =fu)
(2010: three) non-Director, highest paid employees for the year are e MAIEESEEMNE MBI T
as follows:
2011 2010
—E2——F —T-ZF
US$'000 US$'000
Group KEE FEx F=ET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind He - EBHREYRE 445 932
Performance related bonuses RIS - 40
Employee share option benefits & B iB iRl 2 1 35
Pension scheme contributions RIRET I K 2 19
458 1,026
The number of non-Director, highest paid employees whose & (OB 25) B AT %6 B &) 5 = 7 B
remuneration fell within the following bands presented in Hong HIFEESREEABLAT :

Kong dollars ("HK$") is as follows:

Number of employees

BEAH
2011 2010
—E——-F —E-ZF
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,0017% 7T & 2,000,000/ 7T
(equivalent to US$192,802 to US$257,069) (FZEM192,802% L E
257,069 7T) 1 =
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,008 7T, 2 3,000,00075 7T
(equivalent to US$257,070 to US$385,604) (1851 257,070 T E
385,604 7T) 1 3
2 3
Save as disclosed in Note 7 above, during the year ended 30 April PR EMCFE7Fr#BRE N - RBIZE =T ——
2011, no emolument was paid to or received by any of the five FOA=FTHIEFE  BERTE AL
highest paid employees as an inducement to join or upon joining = 35 e B 2T gk B 1R FWERE A BN 2 1
the Group or as compensation for loss of office in connection with RIMB SR I E AR B 2 2R - SKER
the management of the affairs of the Group (2010: Nil). FRANEESHBEENBU BBME (=

T—ZF &) -
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. WX
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% BBMNERDBBRFARBBEE 2 A5
(2010: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong JE R R % A 321650 (=T —Z4F : 16.5%)
Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable outside Hong TR E R o BB ANE 2 FERT
Kong have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the EAFIEBBEASE S EMTEER CH
countries in which the Group operates. IHEGE -
2011 2010
—B2——F T FF
US$'000 Us$'000
Group REE Tt FET
Current RIHA
- Hong Kong — BB 123 197
- Outside Hong Kong — BB IMbE 74 126
QOverprovision in prior years BEFEBBEEE (40) (177)
Deferred (Note 18) JEIE (PI5E18) (15) (8)
Total tax charge for the year NEEHIERS 25 142 138
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax BRREBERATIRERZHWE R A ME
at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company AARERBEET XS ERBRT AR A 2
and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax MIERTHARERBTERFECRBRAZ Z
expense at the effective tax rates are as follows: HERWAT :
2011 2010
—E2——F —E-TF
Us$'000 Us$'000
Group rEE TER FET
Profit before tax B 74 Bl V42 A 787 6,057
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% 1% 16.50H) % E i KT &
(2010: 16.5%) FHIE (ZZE—ZF : 16.5%) 130 999
Adjustments in respect of current tax of BT BRI B EARL 18
previous periods kS (40) (177)
Effect of different rates for companies operating REAM RARE R A Z EKH
in other jurisdictions ANRAEATERE 2 2 36 (34)
Income not subject to tax B/ARBUA (2,224) (3,090)
Expenses not deductible for tax NAHIF R X 1,569 952
Tax losses utilised from previous periods B AT HE 2 BiEEE (187) (162)
Tax losses not recognised REER 2 I B 18 680 1,485
Others Hith 178 165
Tax charge MIER Y 142 138

.
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10. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE

11.

COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the Company
for the year ended 30 April 2011 is approximately US$647,000
(2010: US$1,439,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company (Note 30(b)).

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company, adjusted to reflect the interest on the share options.
The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to
have been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise or
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary
shares.

10.

11.

RRRERABGEF

HE-_Z——FNA=1+HIEEE &R
RIHEE ANE(LERE m A 49647,000% 7T (=&
—Z4F 1,439,000 70) BEEAR A B3R
SR (FEE30(0)) °

BRER

BEREXBNDRBA DR L BRES R
BEARGEFERNRFRADHTERRZ
I HETHE

FREERNIREARREBRERR
BABGERENTE  UEHBARR
RERE 2 #D - TERMERAZ ERRK
B E T E SR ER RN AT E A
ZERNERTEERZHRE  URRER
BN EAS N AT E#EE ) LR
WRBITER AR AT BREFEERT

}

HEEBBRAT
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11. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 1. BREF @
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based BRERREERATIRB AT BB E ¢
on:
2011 2010
—B——F —T-FF
Earnings &R
Profit attributable to ordinary equity SHEGRRER BRI E A
holders of the Company, used in the basic ZARREBRERTEB
earnings per share calculation (US$'000) ANEMERF (FE7T) 645 5919
Weighted average number of ordinary shares Z B =~ T H &
Weighted average number of ordinary shares StEFRREARZE R EFTE B
in issue during the year used in the basic ZEABBITEREKZ
earnings per share calculation (‘000) EEEE (Fi%) 680,568 674,995
Effect of dilution - weighted average number of EHERZE — LTBAR 2
ordinary shares: InEFEHE
Share options & A e 8,830 12,881
689,398 687,876
12. DIVIDENDS 12. BB
2011 2010
—B——F —T—FF
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Interim, paid of 0.31 HK cent B HA R B AR AR
(2010: 0.75 HK cent) per ordinary share 031781 (ZE—ZT4 ¢
0.757&4) 272 651
Final, proposed, of nil BORAREAAR R - &
(2010: 0.75 HK cent per ordinary share) —E—FF
B EmAR0.75%(L) S 655
Special, proposed, of nil RO RIS - &
(2010: 6 HK cents per ordinary share) —E—FTF
B EAReEL) = 5,242
272 6,548
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend EETRBLNEBEE-F——FHA=T
in respect of the year ended 30 April 2011. BIEFEZ RIS

.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. W% BERRE

Yacht and
Leasehold Furniture and motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HENMELEL BGARRE BEERSE &5t
Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
Group REE TEx TER TEn TER
30 April 2011 —E2-——FMA=1+H
At 1 May 2010 RZZE—ZEFHA—A:
Cost [B#N 2,570 4,855 664 8,089
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (2,378) (4,473) (452) (7.303)
Net carrying amount RmE#E 192 382 212 786
At 1 May 2010, net of RZE—FTFHA—R
accumulated depreciation TD ,\;,Hﬁ% 192 382 212 786
Additions NG 42 102 - 144
Disposals HE (2) (5) (167) (174)
Depreciation provided INEE RS
during the year e (128) (235) (40) (403)
Exchange realignment ME 5 % 5 2 - 7
At 30 April 2011, net of RZZE——FMA=+H"
accumulated depreciation Mk Kt eE 109 246 5 360
At 30 April 2011: RZB——FMA=+H :
Cost D% 2,454 4,941 304 7,699
Accumulated depreciation 2t E (2,345) (4,695) (299) (7.339)
Net carrying amount REFE 109 246 5 360
30 April 2010 —ﬁ—gﬁﬁj:-l-a
At 1 May 2009: RZZZAFHA—RB:
Cost (D@ 2,574 5,040 664 8,278
Accumulated depreciation 2t E (2,288) (4,251) (375) (6,914)
Net carrying amount REFE 286 789 289 1,364
At 1 May 2009, net of RZZEZNFRA—R
accumulated depreciation Nk 2T E 286 789 289 1,364
Additions INE 254 153 - 407
Disposals e (36) (5) - (41)
Depreciation provided REGZHME
during the year e (258) (432) (77) (767)
Exchange realignment [ X, % 12 21 = 33
Liquidation of a subsidiary (Note 32) —RMEBR A (FHiE32) (66) (144) - (210)
At 30 April 2010, net of RZZ-FFMA=+A -
accumulated depreciation Mk RHiTE 192 382 212 786
At 30 April 2010: RZF-FFMA=FH:
Cost (BN 2,570 4,855 664 8,089
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (2,378) (4,473) (452) (7,303)
Net carrying amount REFE 192 382 212 786
)
HEREHERLY
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

14. BLEE

Deferred Licence
Goodwill  expenditure rights Total
5k 1453 1T air
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
Group AEE TEn TEx SV S
30 April 2011 —E——-ENmA=1H
At 30 April 2010, 1 May 2010 and RZZE-ZFMA=+H
30 April 2011 “T-TERA-AR
“E——%NA=1H 26,333 - = 26,333
At 30 April 2011: R-ZE—&MA=1H":
Cost D% 34,827 - - 34,827
Accumulated amortisation and impairment 2t ORE (8,494) - - (8,494)
Net carrying amount BREFE 26,333 - - 26,333
30 April 2010 “Z-ZFMA=1H
Cost at 1 May 2009, net of accumulated RZZEZENEFRA—HZHAE
amortisation and impairment 218 8 RRE 26,333 84 72 26,489
Amortisation provided during the year REF R AR = (84) (30) (114)
Exchange realignment B 37, - - 10 10
Liquidation of a subsidiary (Note 32) —RWBREEE (fiF32) = - (52) (52)
At 30 April 2010 RZZE-ZFEMA=1H 26333 = = 26333
At 30 April 2010: R-E—TFEWA=+H:
Cost (%N 34,827 - - 34,827
Accumulated amortisation and impairment ZEEENE (8,494) = = (8,494)
Net carrying amount REFE 26,333 = = 26,333

Impairment testing of intangible assets
Intangible assets have been allocated to the following cash-
generating units, which are reportable segments, for impairment

testing:
° Sales of merchandise; and
° Provision of services.

.
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment testing of intangible assets (Continued)

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit has been
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by senior
management. There are a number of assumptions and estimates
involved in the preparation of cash flow projections for the
period covered by the approved budget. Key assumptions include
the expected growth in revenues and gross margin, timing
of future capital expenditures, long term growth rates and
selection of discount rates. Management prepares the financial
budgets reflecting actual and prior year performance and market
development expectations. Judgment is required to determine the
key assumptions adopted in the cash flow projections and changes
to key assumptions can significantly affect these cash flow
projections. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections
is 7% (2010: 7%).

The carrying amount of intangible assets allocated to each of the
cash-generating units is as follows:

14.

BIEE (®)

BEEEREBENR (@)

BRENZE © B AL A AT YR [ & %8 T0 AR 4% E {5
REEET FRAPEEINEEE#E
M BTEE BEEELNIE S RSB
B ERECHEEEEARBZRER
EBABESEREBRERMG - TBRK
BREKEREMNRZEHER KAKRERN
MY 2EEE  REERERINAR 7R
B -TEEREITRBMEBEUAGFFER
BEMSEREHZVRESE - REER
CREBAIMEAZEERENEZEH
i MEZBINEHUZSRESRE
BRAEEAFE - BeneBARBON
MERIN (ZE—FF : 7%) °

PTRESHReELAEVUNEREEZER
(ER N

Sales of merchandise Provision of services Total
BmHE =R &%
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
—e--f -4 —%--% -FT-FF —¥—-F -T-%IF
US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
Group KEE TEn T=Ex TEx FT= TEx TEr
Goodwill [GES 26,333 26,333 - - 26,333 26,333
15. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSET 15. AJHHEEMEE
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF
US$'000 US$'000
Group KEE Fxx FE7T
Club membership, at fair value g% (RATHE) 84 84

The fair value of the club membership is determined with reference
to the price quoted by the relevant club.

EMERNAFENKE2EEREM 2R
BRERE -

}
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

16. KRB AR ZRE

2011 2010

=F——F B

US$'000 US$'000

Company AATE FTEr FEx
Unlisted shares, at cost A ETIRGD (BREKZN) 9,987 9,987
Due from subsidiaries FEUS BT B A 7 718 42,851 44,925
52,838 54912

UK BARRASERR 28 REAR
ERIN—FREE - ZFERWHEAR A
FERREEERE A FERE -

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free
and are repayable on demand or within one year. The carrying
amounts of these amounts due from subsidiaries approximate to
their fair values.

WA RRENT

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Percentage of

equity attributable
Place of Nominal value of to the Company
incorporation/registration issued ordinary share/ ARFEERREDLL
Name and operations registered capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
EMAY, R BRTEBRRA
£ Rew fRAEE B B TEEHR
Benchmark Profits Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - Investment holding
RRABRES 1%7T REER
Dowry Peacock Group Limited United Kingdom (GBP300 - 60  Investment holding
G 300545 REEKR
eServices (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Dormant
ERARRES 1% TEx
eServices Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 - 100 Dormant
BA 100,000/ 7T TEXH
Ever Eagle Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
EEARRES E RERR
Golden Rules Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 - Investment holding
mEARAT B 87T REER

.
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

16. RMIB AT ZRE (45)

Percentage of
equity attributable

Place of Nominal value of to the Company
incorporation/registration issued ordinary share/ ARFAEEREED L
Name and operations registered capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
HMARYL /R BROEERRE
£ B TR AEE E# B FEXH
IGCS Group Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - Investment holding
ERARRES 1% RERR
IGCS International Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 - 100 Dormant
REARRES E LEXYG
IGCS Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Dormant
BB 2T TEXH
Inspire World Limited* Hong Kong HK$1 - - Dormant
ERARAT) B iy TEXH
International Laboratory Services Limited  Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Provision of laboratory
B mERE AR AR B 18T services
Rt E R
IS0 International (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100 Dormant
REABRES E LEEN
IS International (Holdings) Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100 Provision of technical support
BE 1008 7T and management services,
and trading of home
lifestyle consumer
electronic products
RERIT R RERR -
RREHEEFERES
Linmark Agency (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$50,000 - 100 Investment holding and
EBHRAREE 50,000 7T procurement agent
REERRFERE
Linmark Agency (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Procurement agent
0 10000/ 7T W
Linmark Development (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100 Procurement agent
REEBRES E L
)
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

16. RMIB AT ZKRE (45)

Percentage of
equity attributable

Place of Nominal value of to the Company
incorporation/registration issued ordinary share/ ARARERER DL
Name and operations registered capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
HMARYL /R EROTEBRRA/
£ S A RAEE E% B TEEHR
Linmark Electronics Limited** United Kingdom (GBP12,500 - 60  Dormant
(In liquidation) HE 12,500 8% R ETS
(&)
Linmark (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Investment holding and
WE (B%) ERAF B 2B procurement agent
REERRRERE
Linmark International (Bangladesh) Ltd.*  Bangladesh Taka20,000 - 100 Procurement agent
F)iEad 20,000~ AR
Linmark International (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100 Investment holding,
Limited BB 200,000787C procurement agent and
WEER (5%) BRAH trading of merchandise
REER  RERER
HmE
Linmark Merchandise Consultancy People's Republic of China ~ RMB1,500,000 - 100 Provision of marketing
(Shenzhen) Limited™ H AR1,500,0007T consultancy and product
WEEmELEH (RI) development services
BRAR RIS ERAR
EmF B R
Linmark (UK) Limited" United Kingdom GBP100 - 100 Dormant
G 100 & LR
Linmark Westman Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Us$11 100 - Investment holding
AREARES NET REZR
Market Asia Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Dormant
MEERAF &h 87T TEXHK
Merchandise Creative, Inc. British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100 Dormant
KEEMRES (Eo BEEHK
Merchandise Creative Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Dormant
BB 1000037 TEXH

Linmark Group Limited
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

16. RMIB AT ZRE (45)

Percentage of
equity attributable

Place of Nominal value of to the Company
incorporation/registration issued ordinary share/ ADREEREE DL
Name and operations registered capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
EMmEY/ ERR BRTEBRRA
£ Kegwy AR A E E# B TEEH
Pacific Technologies Limited United Kingdom (GBP45,000 - 60  Dormant
B 45,0006 TEXG
Power Path Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Dormant
EEARAT BE BT LEEH
Tamarind Agency Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100 Investment holding
REARRES 1%7T REER
Tamarind International Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - Investment holding
KERARES %7 BAR
Tamarind International Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding and
B 18T trading of merchandise
REZRREmES
Tamarind Marketing Services (Macao Macao MOP100,000 - 100 Trading of merchandise
Commercial Offshore) Limited* BF 100,000%) EmE
REATHRE CRFIRRE RS
BRATN
Tamarind Trading (Shanghai) Limited* People's Republic of China ~ RMB5,500,000 - 100 Procurement agent and
ASES (£8) BRAA R AR H5,500,0007C trading of merchandise
RERBREAmES
Trend Xpress (Bangladesh) Ltd.* Bangladesh Taka20,000 - 100 Provision of market trend
) 20,000&F consultancy services
RALTIZ AR B R oA S PR
Trend Xpress, Inc. British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding and
RREMRHE (E provision of market trend
consultancy services
REBRRRHTZHR
FE R
Trend Xpress Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Investment holding,
R R B R AR BE VBT provision of market trend

consultancy services and

trading of merchandise
RERR - RETZHR

ERBARERERE S
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16. RMIB AT ZKRE (45)

Percentage of
equity attributable

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of Nominal value of to the Company
incorporation/registration issued ordinary share/ FRARERER DL
Name and operations registered capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
AMEY/ ERR BRTEBRRA
2% s EMRAEE BE BB EER
Westman Linmark (Thailand) Limited Thailand Ordinary shares - 100 Procurement agent
R Baht5,880,000 and AR
preference shares
Baht6,120,000
L i7R5,880000% &% K
{842 7%6,120,000% 8k
Westman (Singapore) Private Limited Singapore $$200,000 - 100 Procurement agent
HIR 200,000%T M TT AR
Westown Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 - 100 Dormant
BHARLT 0 100000787 EEXRK

*

*%

Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other member firm of the Ernst
& Young global network.

Inspire World Limited was disposed of to an independent third party during
the year ended 30 April 2011.

Linmark Electronics Limited was put in administration on 28 July 2009 which
was converted into creditors' voluntary liquidation on 25 January 2010.

Linmark Merchandise Consultancy (Shenzhen) Limited and Tamarind Trading
(Shanghai) Limited are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under
the law of the People's Republic of China. They were not audited by Ernst &
Young Hong Kong or other member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

Linmark (UK) Limited applied for striking off with the UK Companies House
during the year. According to the letter dated 19 April 2011 from the
Companies House, the Registrar will arrange for notice to be published in the
London Gazette. Unless there is an objection, this company will be struck off
the register and dissolved in due course. The Company was not audited by
Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other member firm of the Ernst & Young global
network.
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I E M 22k & 5T B RIS R ERABAR AR B TR o

BERERAFAEREBEE—T——FNOA=THIE
FREHET —RBIFE=T °

Linmark Electronics Limited R =FFEhEFE+ A=+
NB#EE  YR-_T—TF—A-t+HAEAL
EREABEEHE -

MEFRELERAND ORI BRARARKSHE
% (L8) AR AR DREHBUEEZEMARINE
BEME - ZFARWIERBEBLOKE AN FLS
Pk AR o] B At 22 ok & 51 Rl S5 765 P 2 BRABAR B B AT
EZ o

Linmark (UK) Limited A 4F N E BB E B A Rl
MEREEM - RERBEARZMEBSHA=T
——FMATNBRRG - FMESRIFERHK
FBRTIZEA - BRIFBEIRY - TAIZAREE
ZfhprE - WHRIEE RS o ZARINEIE
BB LK G TR B ATsk R E A Tk G 5TRD
EHMEIRBAEK BFTER ©




17. INVESTMENT

IN A JOINTLY-CONTROLLED

17. R—HARZHERB 2RE

ENTITY
2011 2010
—E——F —T—FF
us$‘ooo Us$'000
Group REE SEESTT FET
Unlisted investments, at cost REMIZE (RKA) = -
Share of net assets JEIEFEE 13 15
13 15

Particulars of the jointly-controlled entity are as follows:

HEZEHERZFHBFNT

Percentage of

AN
Place of BEEDL
Particulars of incorporation/ Ownership Voting Profit
Name issued shares held registration interest power sharing  Principal activities
BFEERT il AV
28 BR13 2 # 15 oE fif it 6 FERE REE BASE IEXK
CSC Consultancy Registered capital People's Republic 50 50 50  Provision of business
Co., Ltd. of RMB1,500,000 of China information, management
It iR ER HER Y consulting and social
ARAA] AR #1,500,0007T

compliance services

REFXGEN  EEEAR
HERELETA
EBR%

The investment in a jointly-controlled entity is indirectly held by

the Company.

R—REREHERZRETAAQEM
BREHA -

}

HEEBERAT
—T g
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17. INVESTMENT IN A JOINTLY-CONTROLLED 17. A—XHEREEZHERZKRE @)
ENTITY (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial TREGASEEARZEHER VB ER
information of the Group's jointly-controlled entity: BME
2011 2010
—B——F T —TF
US$'000 Us$'000
Group rEH FEx FET
Share of the jointly-controlled entity's assets and  FE{ T£ [E#% H| T 52 >
liabilities: BENEE
Current assets MENE E 17 17
Non-current assets EMENEE 1 2
Current liabilities mENRE (5) 4)
Net assets FEE 13 15
Share of the jointly-controlled entity's results: JEAL R HIE RS 2 45 -
Operating expenses kX (2) (4)
Loss after tax PR 1% EsE (2) (4)
18. DEFERRED TAX 18. IEZEHIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities/(assets) during the year FRELEHBERE (EE) 22880T :

are as follows:

Deferred tax assets EERIEEE
Decelerated Decelerated
tax depreciation tax depreciation
allowances allowances
WEBE R T IR
mERE ERE
2011 2010
—E——F —ET—FTF
US$'000 US$'000
Group rEH FEx FEx
At beginning of year ) (96) (88)

Deferred tax credited to the income statement FARFT AW ZER BT

during the year (Note 9) T8 (FisE9) (15) (8)
Gross deferred tax assets at end of year RER ZIEIEFI I E E A58 (111) (96)

.
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18. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 18. Eﬂﬁlﬁ (%)
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE

Accelerated Accelerated

tax depreciation tax depreciation

allowances allowances
hnEEB 18 IR I8
mERE TERE
2011 2010
—E2——F —TZF
US$'000 Us$'000
Group rEH FEx FET
Gross deferred tax liabilities at beginning and REH N ER 7 ELERIB
at end of year B BBz 2 2
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and RAERY  ETEEREEERBERD
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position. TEEF TS AR R AP 988 o DATR T 3t B 755 B2 3R
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the B R{ER 2 BIERIIB AR DT -
Group for financial reporting purposes:
2011 2010
—B——F T —FF
US$'000 Us$'000
Group TEE SEEST FET
Deferred tax assets EER I E = (111) (96)
Deferred tax liabilities EEMIEAE 2 2
Net deferred tax assets recognised in REE M BARARER L
the consolidated statement of financial position  JEFERIIE & 2 (A (109) (94)
19. INVENTORIES 19. &&
2011 2010
—EB——-F —E-TF
US$'000 Us$'000
Group REE SEESTT FET
Finished goods BIAY M@ 25 69

}
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES 20.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

FE W B 5 AR K
RBEHR ERESRTZEZAHR
BRECHITAIT :

2011 2010

—E——F T —FF

US$'000 Us$'000

Group AEH FEx FET
Within 30 days 30K AN 3,392 3,535
31 to 60 days 31E60K 1,020 1,132
61 to 90 days 61290k 373 474
91 to 365 days 91%2365K 559 440
Over 1 year B E 532 994
5,876 6,575

Impairment BB (815) (1,251)
5,061 5,324

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period is generally 60 to 90 days. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a credit
control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. Trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing. The carrying amount of the trade receivables
approximates to its fair value.

The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables
are as follows:

AEBEEFPZBEHBRAEZUEEL N
T IR, —RWERAEMNE -
EEH— R A60E0K - BERFHA &
SEEREE - NEBBKE AW E 2 E
WORIB M BRI IE S - WA 5B B3
M UEREREEERR - aREEET
W@kl 2 5 - BUIWE SRR TD
TEEFE - ERE SRR ZEAMEREIN
FERS -

FEWE ZAR R BER BRI

2011 2010

—E——fF —T—TF

US$'000 US$'000

Group rEE FEx FEx
At beginning of year REA]) 1,251 6,297
Impairment losses recognised (Note 6) o ERAREER (Mzte) 358 386
Amount written off as uncollectible s A AT U Bl 2 5008 (790) (5,508)
Exchange differences EH =% (4) 76
At end of year R 4R 815 1,251
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The above provisions are for individually impaired trade receivables
which relate to customers that were in financial difficulties and
only a portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances.

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not considered
to be impaired is as follows:

20.

BWE SR (&)

b it B TY k(8 B R (B FE Uk B BR B
o ZEEKESERRNEEBY KR
R A% TEHE 7] Uk @ 3261 fE R
B o A& B3 % S SR K 1A (T (K
ek B e E A sk {E B 45 i o

R BEREZ NS 2R A I
m

2011 2010
—2——fF —E-TF
US$'000 Us$'000
Group KEE FEx F=ET
Neither past due nor impaired 37 28 BRSORU(E 1,567 2,448
Less than 3 months past due BH DR =1E A 3,311 2,806
3 to 6 months past due BHI=Z= 7 (E A 91 66
Over 6 months past due %60 B R R /< fE A 92 4
5,061 5,324
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a I f 78 BR OB (B 2 JE R IE S R K 2 TN [A]
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no BPF ZERPUWEFTEEAGL -
recent history of default.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a £ 180 BB 30 R OB (B 2 FE W IE B — HE R AR

number of independent customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on past experience, the Directors are of the
opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances.

SEERUEELBRZBIYRFER - B
BRAELR EZRETANREBERE
HRERE AAEEEXTESKE
B ARREBZEEHBA2H KD - KE
EHZEERTRFEEMERR  HE
MeE Ath ISR {5 EEHE ©

}

M%%Eﬁ@AT
fkSaliyay

117




Notes to the Financial Statements

BTG RS MIRE
30 April 2011
—F——FmA=1H
21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 21. BARIE » RE R HEWRIE
RECEIVABLES
Group Company
rEE AR
2011 2010 2011 2010
—R——F —FTTF —¥——F —FT-FF
us$'ooo US$'000 Us$'oo0 Us$'000
FEr TERT Fxn TET
Prepayments B FIE 477 322 2 31
Deposits i 580 542 - -
Other receivables H fth fE YR IE 1,717 6,558 - -
2,774 7,422 2 31
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The VA =& B 3 M s BRSO (B © 5T A Lt 4 &R
financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables 2 & EhE E AT HE ARt 8 2 K
for which there was no recent history of default. THBR -
22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22. REeRREEEEE
Group Company
rEE AR
2011 2010 2011 2010
—g——F -T-THF —B-——F -FT-TF
us$'ooo US$'000 Us$'o00 US$'000
Fxr TR Fxn TE1
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTHET 17,538 20,953 95 2,293

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB") amounted to
approximately US$1,677,000 (2010: US$299,000). RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies. However, under the
People's Republic of China's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history
of default. The carrying amounts of the cash and bank balances
approximate to their fair values.

RBEHR  KEBUARE ([AR%])
HEZ IR e RIRTTAF 491,677,000k 7T (=
T —Z4F :299,000FETT) c AR AR
A HMEE o A RIEFPBEZIMNE
BEIBIEA AR SERMNESERTE
AEBEBRERBEETINELIRER 2
RITHEARBHIBAEMEE o

ROTFEFRBREBARTEARMNEFEZFY
MRS - EHEHEFERZFRBA—A
E-EAAAE  RFAKEZAKEESH
EifE - RFEHEHTRZ N ERIF
B |RITHREFEDFRNELREDCERZ
EERHRT R RRTEFZREE
HEERNHERES -
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23. TRADE PAYABLES 23. BNESZERM
An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the RBEHR BENESERFIREZAHZ
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BRERDITIAT
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF
US$'000 Us$'000
Group REE FEx FET
Within 30 days 30K AN 3,518 3,170
31 to 60 days 31260k 2,455 1,496
61 to 90 days 61290k 268 350
91 to 365 days 912365K 139 74
Over 1 year HBE1E 292 281
6,672 5,371
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally ZERNEZERIDTE S - W — MK E60
settled on 60-day terms. The carrying amounts of the trade KHRBE - ENESES ZEE@TEE@,\
payables approximate to their fair values. NEES °
24. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 24. BtERARHMENIE
Group Company
AEHE FIUN|
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E-—fF T —F-——F —T-ITF
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FER FET TR FET
Accrued expenses ZEFX 2,268 3,008 56 126
Other payables H At e~ FRIE 4,045 7,402 = -
6,313 10,410 56 126
Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average E b ERRIBTI NG R - FHER &M E

term of two months. The carrying amounts of accruals and other
payables approximate to their fair values.

H o FEEHE M N E b FE 5 0IR 2 ik T {2 22

HAFERE

}
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25. WARRANTY PROVISION 25. RARE
2011 2010
—B——F T -FF
US$'000 Us$'000
Group REH Fxx F=ET
At beginning of year REFE] - 1,154
Additional provision (Note 6) RENEE (Ffd5Ee) = 77
Amounts utilised during the year FRNBHEHE - (1,401)
Exchange realignment PE 5 & - 170
At end of year MRER - _

26.

27.

BALANCE OF CONSIDERATION PAYABLE FOR

ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES
As at 30 April 2010, the balance of consideration payable of

approximately US$1,149,000 represented the estimated amounts
payable for the acquisition of 60% equity interest in Dowry
Peacock Group Limited (“Dowry Peacock”) and its subsidiaries.

On 14 May 2010, 4,074,635 ordinary shares of US$0.02 each of
the Company were issued at a price of HK$2.284 (equivalent to
US$0.29) per share to settle the balance consideration payable. As
at 30 April 2010, the carrying amount of balance of consideration
payable for acquisition of subsidiaries approximated to its fair
value.

26.

W BB BT 1 R iz B A E BR R

RZE—ZTFHA=1TH  ETREH
KA 471,149,000 JT * A W BEDowry Peacock
Group Limited ([Dowry Peacock]) 600%f% 7S
e R EM B AR TEMN 225 o

RZE—ZFRATEA  AAGEKER
228478 7T (F8 F K029k L) 2 BHKE 1T
4,074,635 A A &) BRI (E0.02E L 2 T8
B - EBRGZ2RESE - R —F
FUA=+H  WEMBARZEMKE
HEE REEEE AT ERE -

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 27. BEEKER
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Note US$'000 us$'000
Group AEE = FEx FET
Defined benefit plan XA AIET S (a) 900 875
Other long term post-employment benefits  E b K& HifE 8 RIKEF (b) 251 379
1,151 1,254

~ 120

Linmark Group Limited
Annual Report 2011




= ) g e
27. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued) 27. EEEKER @)
Notes: Bt 3E
(a) Defined benefit plan (a) EEBEAE
The Group operates an unfunded defined benefit plan for all its qualifying ZK%@?\%EH\ﬁﬁﬁéﬁ%é\%ﬁ%%&ﬁi%ﬁ%ﬂﬁf
employees in Taiwan. Under the plan, the employees are entitled to retirement o IRBEZAE - BEESSHRNFREAES
benefits at 3% of final salary on attainment of a retirement age of 55. B AR E 3% 2 RIKEH
According to the laws and regulations in Taiwan, the Group is obliged to RIBREERIER  ARBARNEAEREX
pay its employees in Taiwan, upon retirement, disability or death, post- HERIK BRI EWAZERZEF - WiREE
employment benefits based on the number of years of services and final & B RIS F B R RETHEH ST RIREF -
average salary. The Group carried out an actuarial valuation as at 30 April AEBER—Z——FNA=THARAEZREERI
2011 of its obligation for post-employment benefits payable to its employees BREEET R ZBEME -
in Taiwan.
The most recent actuarial valuations of the present value of the defined AERNEEREZBORRBEGE IR
benefit obligations were carried out at 30 April 2011 and 2010 by Hsu Mao- ——FER-T—ZTFENMA=-THHBERBES
Chin Actuary, using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method. BT BRI B E BERE M ERET
The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of the reporting period RBEPRRERZ FERERZAT ¢
were as follows:
2011 2010
—E——F T -TF
% %
Discount rate I = 1.75 2.00
Expected rate of return on plan assets STEIEE 2 B HE 1.75 2.00
Expected rate of return on reimbursement right B4 2 T R = N/A RiE A N/A AN A
Expected rate of salary increases TERE @R =X 1.00 2.00
Future pension increases RBARSIERE N/A R N/A N5 A

The overall expected rate of return on plan assets is determined based on

the market expectations prevailing as at the end of the reporting period,
applicable to the period over which the obligations are to be settled.

The total expenses recognised in the consolidated income statement in

respect of the plan are as follows:

f,J;EJXZ%W’EHE@‘EIE@T){“EC BREPRE
FEARNETREEDRR SRR MEE

RNFARERER TR ERNT

201 2010

—E——F —E-TF

Us$'000 US$'000

FErx FEx

Current service cost B RIGEA 61 38
Interest cost B 20 18
Expected return on plan assets FTEIEE < TAHA B R (3) (3)
Actuarial gains fEE e = (5)
Net benefit expenses B FE 78 48

The Group expects to contribute US$116,000 to its defined benefit plan in

2012.

REFEFEHR=
116,000% 7T °

}
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27. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued)

Notes: (

(a)

MA=+H

Continued)

Defined benefit plan (Continued)

27.

The movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as

follows:

EBERKER @)

BaE - (&)

(a) EEEFFH (EH)
REBMBEEZREZSHNOT

2011 2010

=F——F —FFF

US$'000 Us$'000

FEx F=T

At beginning of year REH] 965 743

Current service cost A RIGEA 61 38

Interest cost B 20 18

Actuarial losses/(gains) on obligation BEZBEEE (W (77) 97

Benefits paid B EF (83) -

Exchange difference & =58 82 69

At end of year RER 968 965
The movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: FTEIBEZ ATEEFHT ¢

2011 2010

—E——fF —E-TF

US$'000 Us$'000

FEx FEx

At beginning of year REH] 148 112

Expected return T8 HA 121 57 (3) (3)

Actuarial gains on obligation HEEZBERKZS 5 5

Contributions by the Group REEHK 128 24

Benefits paid B (83) =

Exchange difference M X ZERR 16 10

At end of year REFR 211 148

A reconciliation of the fair value of the plan assets and the present value
of the defined benefit obligations to the net value of assets and liabilities

recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position is as follows:

AEIEERFERAERMNEEREERLGRERH
B KRERZ BERREFEZHRNT

2011 2010

—2——fF —E-EF

US$'000 US$'000

FEx F=x

Fair value of plan assets FrEIEEZ ATFE (211) (148)
Present value of defined benefit obligations RERBANEEZEE 968 965
757 817

Unrecognised net actuarial gains REREE W F 58 143 58
Net liabilities arising from defined benefit obligations AREEMNEEEEZAETR 900 875
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27. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued) 27. EERAKEBER @)
Notes: (Continued) Btz : (48)
(a) Defined benefit plan (Continued) (a) Egﬁgﬂtﬂ'ﬂ (&)
The defined benefit contributions in Taiwan are made to a fund administered BEZAERNBRIIA—RERNER 2 E
by the government of Taiwan. The major categories of plan assets as ﬁf’ﬂﬂ FEEEFZMARGZTREEES Y
a percentage of the fair value of the total plan assets of the centrally FEIEELBEATEZESLAT ¢
administered fund are as follows:
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
% %
Equity instruments AT A 51 41
Debt instruments BEETA 33 26
Deposits T 16 33
A five-year summary of the present value of the defined benefit obligations, RERMBEMERE  HEEEATE - sF2IE4
the fair value of the plan assets, the deficit in the plan and the experience MetBl AR KRR  AFEHENT ¢
adjustment arising on plan liabilities are as follows:
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
—B——F _T-TF _TTHNF _TTN\F _TT+F
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FER FET F=T F*T FE£T
Present value of defined benefit obligations R ERAIE(EIRE 968 965 743 852 873
Fair value of plan assets FFEIEEANTE (211) (148) (112) (96) (58)
Unrecognised actuarial gains AIERIEE WS 143 58 151 140 112
Deficit in the plan sTEI B4 900 875 782 896 927
Experience adjustment on plan liabilities TEIBEZ KBRARE = - - _ -
(b)  Other long term post-employment benefits (b) Eﬁiﬂ,ﬁﬁﬁﬁéiﬂﬁiﬁfl

The balance represents provision for long service payment as required by
certain jurisdictions. Termination benefits are payable when employment
is terminated before the normal retirement date or whenever an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.

AR TREREMEKZ U RBRBE S 2

?%5?1% o R IFRBHAINME BB E R R A HA]
BB B FERE R SR IR EN % S5 4 A i 4% L 1R PR s

FxAT e

}

e
8

"F7R
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28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. BRA
Shares B 1
2011 2010
—E——fF —T—TF
US$'000 Us$'000
FEx TFET
Authorised: JETE ¢
2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 2,000,000,000/% = A% 1B
US$0.02 each 0.02% T2 LB 40,000 40,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRHE -
683,069,279 (2010: 674,994,644) 683,069,279 (— T —ZT4 :
ordinary shares of US$0.02 each 674,994,644) fx FAXEE
0.02E T 2 E@AR 13,661 13,500

29.

Note:

On 14 May 2010, 4,074,635 ordinary shares of US$0.02 each of the Company were
issued at a price of HK$2.284 (equivalent to US$0.29) per share to settle the balance
consideration for the acquisition of 60% equity interest in Dowry Peacock. On 2
December 2010, 4,000,000 ordinary shares of US$0.02 each of the Company were
issued at an exercise price of HK$0.164 per share upon exercise of share options
under the Company's share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme"). As a result,
the issued and fully paid capital of the Company increased to 683,069,279 ordinary
shares of US$0.02 each.

Share options
Details of the Company's Share Option Scheme are included in
Note 29 to the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution of
the then sole shareholder passed on 22 April 2002 for the primary
purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible persons
for their contribution or potential contribution to the Group. The
Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years
up to 2012. Under the Share Option Scheme, the Company's board
of directors or a committee thereof may grant options to eligible
persons to subscribe for shares in the Company at a price per
share of at least the higher of (i) the closing price of a share as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of the offer of the relevant option; and (ii) the
average closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer, provided that the exercise
price shall in no event be less than the nominal amount of one
share. A consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
grant of options. The maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other scheme to be adopted by
the Company from time to time must not in aggregate exceed 30%
of the share capital of the Company in issue from time to time.
The Company has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase
or settle the share options in cash.
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G

RZZ—TFRA+WA - ARFIZRER2.2848 T (1B
Z£R0.29570) 2 (B153174,074,635 R A A R B R EE
0.02& 7T 2 L3BAR - LB E U HEDowry PeacockI60%A%
AEHEZREHBE - R_T—TF+=-_A=-H AR
AR ER0.164B T Z T EERBAR R 2 BERET 2
([EBARAEST &I |) BT ARIE % 174,000,000/ 2 A A1 &
IREE0.02ETL Z MR - Fit * RARZEBITRA
SRR AN HE £ 683,069,279% B AR EIH0.023E 7T 2 EiAAL ©

B B
NN e i g e = N =S )
5F29 °

]
BREAE RN —_EE —_FWA-_+—H
RIEE R — R EBIBE 2R ERMERR -
FTEENSEBABHAERALTHEAE
Wk e e 2 AR o BRI T B
—BEAR BT &It BHt+E-
BIEBRESS AR ESEREER
B EERERTEERATARELR
NED - BIRRRBEZR D )R PTG
ZBHKRMERMINAQR—BRIEHDRAE
FEAREMNE B EE A 2 R TE (i)
RETE Mz BE BT ERANADATNE
BEHFBBHA@AEEB 2BRHFHKm
B (UAEeEAE)  HITFEEERDAT
BER—BEHZEE A ERATRE
MBI R A R E VBT o IRIZIERE
SEIRARREFHEMZERAEMTEE
BRHE®MRTEZEBRETERTETZ
IR 428 - NSBABAR BT E TR
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during the year were as follows:

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The movements in share options under the Share Option Scheme

29. BRESTE (&)
AT AENBRETRIET 2 BRESS

2011 2010
—B——fF —T-TF

Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options  exercise price of options

hnEF 13 15
TEE BREZE 1TEE  BREHAE
HKS$ per share ‘000 HK$ per share '000
BTER T BITE T
At beginning of year REA 0.491 41,655 0.585 54,308
Granted during the year NERBEHH - - 0.700 6,853
Exercised during the year RERNBITE 0.164 (4,000) = =
Lapsed during the year REARE KK 0.282 (19,980) 0.824 (14,650)
Cancelled during the year NERD T8 - - 0.830 (4,856)
At end of year RELR 0.801 17,675 0.491 41,655

Share options outstanding at the end of the reporting period have

AT ARBERHRERITEBREZITE

the following exercise periods and exercise prices: AR AT{R(E :
20M —E-—fF
Number of
options  Exercise price * per share Exercise period
BREHE BRITEE TES
'000 HK$
) BT
13,666 0.830 24 August 2008 to 23 August 2013
—EEN\FNA+HBE=ZE-=F/N\A=+=H
4,009 0.700 25 August 2010 to 24 August 2015
—E-EFN\A-+HEBE-ZE-AFNA=+HEA
17,675

}
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 29. BRETE @
2010 —ZT-TF
Number of
options Exercise price * per share Exercise period
BAES B BRRATEE" 1T ES
'000 HK$
Tt BIT
15,421 0.830 24 August 2008 to 23 August 2013
—EEN\FENAZ+HBEE=Z—=F/\A=+=H
20,000 0.164 12 January 2010 to 11 January 2015
—T—ZTF—A+-HE-_ZT—AHF—HA+—H
6,234 0.700 25 August 2010 to 24 August 2015
- EFNAt+RHE_ZE—AFNA=-+HEH
41,655
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of * fis A2 FIAR N AR 75 AR Bk B8 AT AT AR Bl L At FR A

B BRIEZITEER (AR o

rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company's share
capital.

FAVERLERE - (ZZ—ZF : K
BB A% HE 2 A F{E49150,0003 7 © HERF
AZ0.17787T) °

No share option was granted during the year. (2010: The fair value
of the share options granted was approximately US$150,000,
equivalent to HK$0.17 each).

ERBRAEERREZ 2 FETERH
N —FAHHEEARKEL B BER
it U RZEBRERE 2GR TX
SIRMERZAE AR AIRE

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted was
estimated as at the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes
valuation model, taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted. The following table lists the
inputs to the model used:

24 August 4 November 25 August
Date of grant 2007 2008 2009
—BTtF —BTN\F —EBTAF
gHAM NA=+mH +—AmBE NA=+EHH
Share price at date of grant REL B 2 RE
(HK$ per share) (BRAETT) 0.830 0.164 0.700
Weighted average share price I R%E
(HK$ per share) (FBTT) 1.00 0.48 0.25
Expected volatility (%) T8 HA R 12 (00) 37.97 82.16 165.11
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4 [ iz ) 3K (00) 4.16 1.74 1.55
Expected life of options (year) BERSHE 2 TETHARR (4F) 3.5 to 4.5 3.7 to 5.7 3.5t0 4.5
Dividend yield (%) A% B K (0)) 432 432 8.89
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29.

30.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The expected life of the options is based on the historical data
over the past three years and is not necessarily indicative of the
exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects
the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future
trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 17,675,000
share options outstanding under the Share Option Scheme. The
exercise in full of the remaining share options would, under the
present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue
of 17,675,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company and
additional share capital of approximately US$354,000 and share
premium of approximately US$1,465,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 17,325,000 share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme, which represented approximately 3% of the Company's
shares in issue as at that date.

RESERVES

(a) Group
The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 55 of
the financial statements.

29.

30.

BRETE @)

B Z BT R IR BB E=FZ2ESE
HEFE RURKRAEEEZITHER
® o BHHIERBRN TEE - BB KIE
BARKBE 212 RUKRRERER -

EENBRE, LR eBEMARTE
ZtEh .

RMEHR - AR R AIREERET SR
£ T 1) R AT 2 il A% A ££17,675,00017 ©
BTN 2 IBIREEREITE - AREARAF
WMITZEARERE  HEEHARQEEREIN
#%1717,675,0000% @A - M IRA R AR 10 )&
B I8 Bl 3 Hn #9354,0003€ 7T & #71,465,000
Er (RHKRETER) o

Rt ERMBEREBY  KAQAFAERE
BE IR RE AT 81 9% i & oK 1T 2 BB AR A
17,325,0001% * {H AR B Z B E 177D
Z 4930 °

e

() F&KH
AEERAFERBEFEZFHEE
BREZEH2INYHREFLEALZ

o S
A NS

}
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30. RESERVES (continued) 30. ﬁ{ﬁ (&)

(b) Company (b) ARATF
Share Capital
Share option  redemption  Contributed Retained
premium reserve reserve surplus earnings Total
Kip  Bk#E EAED
HER =] @ EHA% REAH adt
Note US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
i Txr FER FER O FER TER TER
Balance at 1 May 2009 N_EENFRA—H
ey 21,632 340 48 9,946 12,615 44,581
Total comprehensive income  FE2EUMA
for the year Fak - - - = 1,439 1439
Equity-settled share option  MARRES 12
arrangements Bz - 150 - - - 150
Share options lapsed| FRKH /T
cancelled during the year B - (195) - - 195 -
Final 2009 dividend paid BENZSSNERERE - - - - (1909) (1.909)
Interim 2010 dividend paid BN ZZ—ZFHHRE 12 - - - - (651) (651)
At 30 April 2010 R-B-BEMA=1A 21632 295 18 9,946 11,689 13,610
Balance at 1 May 2010 RZE-FFRA-H
oy 21,632 295 48 9,946 11,689 43,610
Total comprehensive income ~ FEZEWA
for the year Fak] - - - - 647 647
Issue of shares BIRG 1,068 - - - - 1,068
Exercise of share option 1Tl iR E n (7) - - - 4
Equity-settled share option  SARRIES .2
arrangements IR = 58 = = - 58
Share options lapsed FARHZ
during the year AR = (123) = = 123 =
Final 2010 dividend paid EN-E-SEXREKRE 12 - - - - (655) (655)
Special 2010 dividend paid ERZZ-SERAIKE 12 - - - - (5,242) (5,242)
Interim 2011 dividend paid B ZZF——FFHRE 12 - - - - (272) (272)
At 30 April 2011 R-B--£EMA=+A 22,711 223 48 9,946 6290 39218
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30. RESERVES (Continued)

(b)

Company (Continued)

The Company's contributed surplus represents the excess
of the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the reorganisation, over the nominal value of
the Company's shares issued in exchange therefor. Under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed surplus
account of the Company is distributable to equity holders.
However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend or
make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it is, or
would after the payment be unable to pay its liabilities as
they become due; or (i) the realisable value of its assets
would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its issued share capital and share premium accounts.

31. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

30. @& @

(b)

¥ N/NETRE )

RNRAR 2 BEHRGIEIRE S HTINEE
ZHBRAIE D 2 AT EBEAR A
AR BBDFRAMBITZROEEZ
ZH o RBEBEBERE—NLN—FRF
FE o ARRZEHMBHERTHAIK
THEZRAA AWM XAAE T
BANEEIRIORTR B ERR
BAER DK : (VR EEEZE
HzaE: silHEE2JZRERE
DPREBEREBITRAURRERD &
BER 24258 -

31. HE—RHWEAF

201
e
Note US$'000
k=3 Fxx
Net assets disposed of EHEZEERE -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMB AR 2 Was 6 13
13

Satisfied by: PV ES -
Cash HE 13

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in

respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows:

HEHE-—FMBEARAHEZHERAEE
BEBZRAFEIFTOT

2011
—E——F
US$'000
FEx
Cash consideration and net inflow of cash and cash ReREREHE-—RMEARERZ
equivalents in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary ~ R&KIBEEEEE 2R A FE 13

}
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32. LIQUIDATION OF A SUBSIDIARY 32. —XMIBAREE
2010
—T-TF
Note Us$'000
B =E FET
Net assets liquidated: B EESE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB NEE 210
Intangible asset mEEE 52
Inventories FE 2,201
Trade and other receivables FEU B 5 I B AR R 9,546
Tax recoverable GIEqEE 550
Cash and bank balances RE MIRTTHER 3,289
Trade and other payables JETE 5 K B AR K (19,279)
(3,431)
Exchange reserve realised B 7 I N (1,824)
Gain on liquidation of a subsidiary —ZXBAREEZ W 6 5,255
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in H—XMERAREREAZRENIBEE
respect of the liquidation of a subsidiary is as follows: BEEBZRLFESTAOT :
2010
—E-TF
Us$'000
FET
Cash and bank balances and net outflow of e MRTTH S ME—R B A REE
cash and cash equivalents in respect of FzHeREEFEER Z
the liquidation of a subsidiary R RE (3,289)

.
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33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 33. RAEE

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not REE R - RS A R AREE 23K
provided for in the financial statements were as follows: NEBEAT :
Group Company
rEH PN
2011 2010 2011 2010
=E2——F "ZT-ZTF ZEB—-—F _"T-ITF
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TER FET FEr FET
Guarantees given to banks FRTFUTEHZ
in connection with & T R R T
facilities granted to: B Z R ¢
Subsidiaries Ll PN=] = - 32,853 32,853
As at 30 April 2011, the banking facilities granted to the RZZTE——FMNA=+H  REXRFM
subsidiaries subject to guarantees given to the banks by RITER 2 ERMFZ THE R R 2 RITHL
the Company were utilised to the extent of approximately & B E) 496,704,000 T (ZZE—FF ¢
US$6,704,000 (2010: US$11,648,000). 11,648,000 7T ) °
34. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 34, REHFEZH
The Group leases certain of its office premises, staff quarters, AEBERBELEEHELHEMEER THA
furniture and equipment under operating lease arrangements. The EE BEIEE BMMERE - 2SH
leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. B2 ARAE 2GR REHNERS
B °
At 30 April 2011, the Group had total future minimum lease RZZE——FWA=1H  A&EERES
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as AIREGCEHER T2 H B X2 KRR
follows: HEESHIBEAT :
Office premises Furniture and
and staff quarters equipment
RAZBNREIES BRI
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——-F —ZT-TF ZB—-—-F "ZT-ITF
US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000
Group KEH FEx FETT FTEx FETT
Within one year —FR 966 1,918 81 143
In the second to fifth years, F_FZFERF
inclusive (BREERME) 482 922 27 86
1,448 2,840 108 229
At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no operating RBEHR > XRR W EEFEMKLER
lease arrangements. B2 -

}
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35. COMMITMENTS 35. &
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in Note BR | SCBt aE34pT il 2 48 & 0 EFIEIN - LA
34 above, the Group had the following capital commitments for TARAAEENRBREHARLBEEYE  KE
the acquisition of property, plant and equipment at the end of the R 2 B AN AEE

reporting period:

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
us$'ooo Us$'000
Group rEE FEx FEx
Contracted, but not provided for BRI AE KRB 170 -
Authorised, but not contracted for EAZEBRETL 7 3
36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. EREALTRS
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in @) BAFBREEMIAHAIL RS
these financial statements, the Group had the following N REBFREGMEANTHEITIA
transactions with related parties during the year: TRS :
2011 2010
—E2——F =—ZT-FF
Name of related parties Nature of transactions Note us$‘ooo Us$'000
BEREALERE REME P FEx FE7T
Sky Fame Group Limited Rental expense (1) 128 128
FREEEABR AR e
Ken Ball Limited Rental expense (ii) - 52
EIRER A A HeR>
Raymond Anthony NUGENT Rental expense (iii) - 9
HemMZ
Midway Enterprises (Guang Zhou) Ltd. Commission income (iv) 22 =
EMNFEBHARTEEERAT HEBA
Wonderful World (HK) Limited Sampling charges (v) 18 -
EE (B8) BRAR AW E

.
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 36. BRAEALTRS (@)
(@) (Continued) (@) (&)
Notes: B
(i) Sky Fame Group Limited is 100% owned by Mr. WANG Lu Yen, a (i) BEEEERARAREILBELEE (B
Director, and his spouse. The rental expense was determined based on F)REZF2EHREZRE - HEFAX
the market rate and floor area. D2EMEHREREAEBEERE °
(i) Ken Ball Limited is 100% owned by Mr. Peter Loris SOLOMON, a (i) Bk PR A A A — K H Al & FPeter Loris
former Director. Rental expense was determined based on the market SOLOMONSEAE 2 EHA 2 A A - HEMX
rate and floor area. D2EMERSMEARREERE °
(iii) Mr. Raymond Anthony NUGENT is a director and a holder of 30% (iii) Raymond Anthony NUGENT% 4 ADowry
interest of Dowry Peacock, a 60% owned subsidiary of the Company. Peacock (78 22 &) # /5 60001 % 2 Mt B 2
Al) 2 E R KA HI00ERMFA A °
(iv) Midway Enterprises (Guang Zhou) Ltd. is 100% owned by Roly (v BENTHBARCEERARARNARIE
International Holdings Ltd., which is a controlling shareholder of AR 2B ERIERER AR ZEHE A Z
the Company. The commission income was received based on the AE  AEWABRBESTBEZAKE
commission rate agreed by the parties. K MUCER ©
(v) Wonderful World (HK) Limited is 100% owned by Roly International (v) XE (B8) BRAFAND FHERAR
Holdings Ltd., which is a controlling shareholder of the Company. The 2HBBRERARARZEAEAZ AT °
sampling charges were determined based on the amount agreed by BN B THARHE & 7 19 58 2 W 2 i UER
both parties.
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: b) AEEFEEBABZEHH :
2011 2010
—g——%  -T-T%
US$'000 Us$'000
FEx FEx
Short term employee benefits SEEL = EER 1,844 1,160
Post-employment benefits R
- defined contribution plans — EREERETE 66 63
Share-based payments VARR 19 R B R R 21 46
Total compensation paid to key TRFETEEEAEZ
management personnel FrisaER 1,931 1,269
Further details of Directors' emoluments are included in BEEHMN < FHREH R IE I EMEET

Note 7 to the financial statements.

}
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. ¢RI EER
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial FHEfemITARRERRZIRAELNT :
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
Group rEH
Financial assets tHEE
Loans and Available-for-sale
receivables financial asset Total
RN ERRE THHEEREE CH
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
“®2--% TB-%F “%--F "2-%F "B “%-%F%
Note US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
M SR T%T TR TEL Txr TET
Available-for-sale financial asset A fiH & & A& E 15 - - 84 84 84 84
Trade receivables EWEBER 20 5,061 5324 - - 5,061 5324
Financial assets included in SABENRE &
prepayments, deposits REAMEKHIEZ
and other receivables TREE 21 2,297 7,100 - - 2,297 7,100
Cash and cash equivalents HeRHS%(EER 22 17,538 20,953 - - 17,538 20,953
24,896 33377 84 84 24,980 33,461
Financial liabilities TEAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
REBEREIR2EMEE
2011 2010
—E——F —ET-FTF
Note US$'000 US$'000
Bt s FER TE1
Trade payables JEE SRR 23 6,672 5,371
Financial liabilities included in st AEET B A R E A AT
accruals and other payables FEZemEsE 24 4,045 7,402
10,717 12,773
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. @RI AEER @

(Continued)
Company AAT
Financial assets ctRMEE
Loans and receivables
BEXRRERRIE
2011 2010
—E2——F —T-FF
Note USs$'o00 US$'000
B 5T FE5x FET
Cash and cash equivalents He MBS EFEEE 22 95 2,293
95 2,293
As at the end of the reporting period, the Company did not have REMEER - ARAMEFNEBEE -
any financial liability.
38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 38. 2 EERATFEER
The carrying amounts and fair value of the Group's and the AEBEERARRIzEMITAZEEAEBELEA
Company's financial instruments are as follows: FEAT :
Group rEH
Financial assets cTREE
Carrying amounts Fair value
BREE A¥E
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——-F =5 =EBE-—-—-F ZZT-IZF
US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FEx F=T FEx FET
Available-for-sale financial At E SR
asset BE 84 84 84 84
Trade receivables B E S5 ERE 5,061 5,324 5,061 5,324
Financial assets included in STATENFIE ~ e
prepayments, deposits and N H M R RIR 2
other receivables ERIEE 2,297 7,100 2,297 7,100
Cash and cash equivalents HERBESEEIER 17,538 20,953 17,538 20,953
24,980 33,461 24,980 33,461

}
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 38. AFERAFEER @
(Continued)
Group (Continued) TEE (5)
Financial liabilities TRAE
Carrying amounts Fair value
IREE AR
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E2——-F —Z-ZTF ZEB——F "ZT-ITF
Us$'oo0 US$'000 Us$'ooo US$'000
FTER FET FER FET
Trade payables FERIE 5 BR K 6,672 5,371 6,672 5,371
Financial liabilities included in 5t AJERT B A &
accruals and other Hth B FRIE 2
payables TRtBE 4,045 7,402 4,045 7,402
10,717 12,773 10,717 12,773
Company VNN
Financial assets THEE
Carrying amounts Fair value
AREE AFE
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——F —E2-TF ZEB—-—F —ZT-ITF
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TER FET FTEx FET
Cash and cash equivalents BE MRS EBEIEE 95 2,293 95 2,293
95 2,293 95 2,293
As at the end of the reporting period, the Company did not have REIEER - ARRREMNESREE -
any financial liability.
The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included PREERBREZATFENZIARER
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a RH5ER (MIERESBEREE) BRIRS
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced TZARX 5 BARK
or liquidation sales.
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the THTTERBRERTIARGEE A FE :
fair values:
Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables, RekBFEEEEH  BWESERR - B
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other NEZERR  STATARMNNKIE - Be kA
receivables, financial liabilities included in accruals and other ERFIEZEMEE sTABTERRE
payables, approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the tENFEz &R EE  HEEREEE
short term maturities of these instruments. - RREELDERZEIAZRHE

EHAFTER -
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 38. AFERAFERER @

(Continued)

Fair value hierarchy DN ERBR

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and AEEFERALATERARBETRNESH

disclosing the fair value of financial instruments: THEZRAYE:

Level 1:  fair value measured based on quoted prices £—E: ERFEEIRRRNERMSLZ
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or HE CRKRE) AEZ2RAFE
liabilities

Level 2:  fair value measured based on valuation techniques for ST BREERDAEZATE &
which all inputs which have a significant effect on the FHERDZAEBABEERERX
recorded fair value are observable, either directly or BERAABESE  THEAK
indirectly ANHEEEEATE

Level 3:  fair value measured based on valuation techniques for FZE: REERDAEZAFE Mk
which any inputs which have a significant effect on FHERTDZAEH AELIFK
the recorded fair value are not based on observable BABEmSEE (THBRER
market data (unobservable inputs) ABE) B - WEHEAKRATE

EREARE

}
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 38. AFERAFEER @
(Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NEEREL (&)
Assets measured at fair values: BRFEFGTEZEE -
Group XEE
As at 30 April 2011 R-ZE——FWMA=+AH
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—fE E=fE HB=E A&t
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FER FER FER FTER
Available-for-sale financial asset AJftHHE S & E 84 = - 84
As at 30 April 2010 RZZE—ZFMPA=1H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
e E e At
Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 us$'ooo
FET FET FET FET
Available-for-sale financial asset AJftHH & S @b E E 84 - - 84
There were no transfers amongst Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 in the ANTEERAZE—E ZB_BRE=
fair value hierarchy. 2 [EI N 4 A fr] 8 4% o
The Company did not have any financial assets and financial RZE——FR=ZZFT—ZFTFWA=+AH"
liabilities measured at fair value as at 30 April 2011 and 2010. ARRWBETMEATFEAEZEREE

&N
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash
equivalents. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group's operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and
trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group's short term interest-bearing
bank deposits with a floating interest rate.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps to hedge
its exposure to interest rate risks.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group's profit before tax (through the impact on

39. iIKEREEEERBEK

AEBENTECRIABERSRRESE
BIEE - ZE2RMIANTIZEENDIARR
SENEFERET AKENTASER
MeEMEENAE NEROAAEELE
EENRKESERNENEZRRF

AEENESRTAMEENEZRARSH
KEb  SNERR EERBRERDES
Rk E=@RITLEETEERERER
REVERER - Lk o

MR ER
AEBAZNMSNXEFPREEEREN
SEFBN B BRITFREH

7 85 [ 4 5T 37 417 ) SR 48 B4 40 DA S o
R -

TRIFEMBEEMEERT TENER
T AREWGRHANEN CERYEFEEE
MEE)  FFRRITEFRRARE AL

floating rate borrowings) and interest-bearing bank deposits and FEEEA] s Z B BURE o
the Group's equity.
2011 2010
—EB——F —T—FF
Increase/ Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit in profit
basis points before tax before tax
HE BRBE A% Fl B 25 A A

#@m,Ohd) & ORd) i ORd)

US$'000 US$'000
Group REHE FEx FET
United States dollar =T 50 88 105
United States dollar X (50) (88) (105)

}
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. M REBREEBERBRK (&)

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Company's functional currency is the United States dollar
and the functional currencies of majority of the subsidiaries
are the United States dollar and Hong Kong dollar. The Group's
transactions, trade receivables and trade payables are mainly
denominated in these two currencies.

As the exchange rate of the United States dollar and Hong Kong
dollar is pegged, management considers the foreign exchange
risk in this respect is not significant. The Group has certain
investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed
to foreign currency translation risk. However, as the net foreign
exchange exposure of the foreign operations is not significant, the
Group does not actively hedge this foreign exchange exposure.

The Group periodically reviews monetary assets and liabilities held
in currencies other than the United States dollar and Hong Kong
dollar to ensure that net exposure is kept at an acceptable level,
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis
and the Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group's other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, an available-for-sale financial
asset, trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, arises from
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to
the carrying amounts of these instruments.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations
of credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by
geographical region and by industry sector. At the end of the
reporting period, the Group has certain concentration of credit
risk on the Group's trade receivables, as the amounts due from
the largest five debtors amounted to approximately US$1,825,000
(2010: US$1,732,000), representing 36.1% (2010: 32.5%) of the
Group's trade receivables. In order to minimise the credit risk,
management continuously monitors the level of exposure to
ensure that follow-up actions are taken promptly to reduce the
risk exposure or to recover overdue balances. The Group will also
continuously exploit new opportunities and forge relationships
with new customers with the aim of broadening its clientele.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in Note 20
to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk
The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of banking facilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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30 April 2011
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, was as follows:

39.
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Within one year

—F R

2011 2010

—E——fF —E-TF

US$'000 Us$'000

Group TEH FEx FET

Trade payables FERTE 5 8RR 6,672 5,371
Financial liabilities included in accruals and &t AFE&TE A & E fh fE {5118

other payables ZEmBE 4,045 7,402

10,717 12,773

At 30 April 2011, the utilised banking facilities of US$6,704,000
(2010: US$11,648,000) granted to the subsidiaries subject to
guarantees given to the banks by the Company is repayable on
demand.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders' value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 30 April 2011 and 30
April 2010.

Capital of the Group comprises all components of shareholders'
equity.
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40. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 40. HEMHRE

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue EEEERT——FtATHRA#ER
by the board of directors on 15 July 2011. R MY FERE

Y
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5-Year Financial Summary

AFFEE

RESULTS HEE
Year ended 30 April
BEOBE=1tHLEE
2007 2008 2009 2010 201
—ETLF ZTT)N\F ZTTNF ZT-ITF ZB——F
US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000
T=r FTEr FET T=r TEn
REVENUE g 383,583 289,707 195,762 93,526 95,763
Cost of sales SHERA (329,897) (260,109) (159,823) (67,200) (72,791)
Gross profit EH 53,686 29,598 35,939 26,326 22,972
Other income Hip A 2,593 2,594 1,846 2472 1,362
General and administrative expenses  —#% RITIRFI & (45,925) (39,855) (33,309) (25,647) (22,007)
Restructuring costs HAER - - (1,719) (1,362) (1,556)
Gain on liquidation of a subsidiary ~ —ZRHMIBARER Yz - - - 5,255 -
Loss on deregistration of branches A FBUH M 2 EE - - - (1,036) =
Impairment loss on goodwill BEREERE (2,494) (3,000) (3,000) - -
Impairment loss on purchase A E K EAE
consideration recoverable BEEE (5,699) - - - -
Impairment loss on patents and =R R EiERE
trademarks g (51,529) (10,254) (10,137) - -
Write-back of purchase ERERE
consideration payable o] 21,469 - - - -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—XMBARZHKE - - 102 - 13
Operating profit/(loss) R/ (E1R) (27,899) (20,917) (10,278) 6,008 784
Interest income FBUA 905 598 149 53 5
Finance costs &R (1,164) (418) (52) = =
Share of loss of EIE— R LRI
a jointly-controlled entity g8 B (53) (45) (4) (4) 2)
Profit/(loss) before tax B ADEF  (E1E) (28,211) (20,782) (10,185) 6,057 787
Income tax (expense)/credit FTiE® (F),/#&40 (2,659) 365 (2,069) (138) (142)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREN(BR) (30,870) (20,417) (12,254) 5,919 645
Attributable to: VAT & 77 B
Owners of the Company RARHEEA (11,062) (12,789) (8,350) 5919 645
Non-controlling interest IR (19,808) (7,628) (3,904) = -
(30,870) (20,417) (12,254) 5919 645
Dividends [45) 3,679 - 1,891 6,548 272
Earnings/(loss) per share (US cents)  FRk&A /(E1E) (=)
Basic 2R (1.7) (1.9) (1.2) 0.9 0.1
Diluted wE (1.7) NATER NATER 09 0.1
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE

As at 30 April

REA=+H
2007 2008 2009 2010 201
—ERLF B N\F Z2TNF T -TF Z8——F
us$'ooo Us$'000 us$'ooo us$'ooo US$'000
FET FET FET FET FEx

Non-current assets IERBEE 61,246 47,309 28,042 27312 26,899
Current assets TENEE 78,677 56,320 51,662 33,768 25,398
Total assets BERE 139,923 103,629 79,704 61,080 52,297
Current liabilities mENAE (62,991) (49,922) (39,510) (18,701)  (14,398)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (2,627) (1,189) (1,192) (1,254) (1,151)
Total liabilities BERR (65,618) (51,111) (40,702) (19,955)  (15,549)
Net assets BEFE 74,305 52,518 39,002 41,125 36,748

}
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Corporate Information
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Executive Directors
WANG Lu Yen (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
WONG Hing Lin, Dennis (Chief Financial Officer)
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WONG Wai Ming

Independent non-executive Directors
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Audit committee

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius (Chairman of the Committee)
WANG Arthur Minshiang

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS

Company secretary
CHEUNG Hoi Yin, Brenda

Registered office
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda
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1123, Kowloonbay International Trade & Exhibition Centre,

1 Trademart Drive, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong

(with effect from 1 January 2011)

Principal share registrar and transfer office
HSBC Securities Services (Bermuda) Limited

(changed from HSBC Bank Bermuda Limited

with effect from 1 December 2010)

6 Front Street,

Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office
Tricor Standard Limited
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Wanchai, Hong Kong

Auditors
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18/F, Two International Finance Centre,
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Principal bankers

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Level 10, HSBC Main Building,

1 Queen's Road Central, Hong Kong
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Shareholder Information

R E

Listing Listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
since 10 May 2002

Stock Code ;915

Board Lot 2,000

Par Value US$0.02

Trading Currency HK$

Financial calendar 2011

Financial year ended

Full year results announced

Register of members closed (for ascertaining shareholders'
rights to attend and vote at annual general meeting)

Annual general meeting

Interim results to be announced

30 April 2011
15 July 2011

25-29 August 2011
29 August 201
mid of December 2011*

*

subject to change

Final dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend in respect of the year
ended 30 April 2011.

Closure of register of members for annual general

meeting

For the purpose of ascertaining the shareholders' rights of attending and voting at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Thursday, 25 August 2011 to Monday, 29 August 2011, both days inclusive.
In order to be entitled to attend the annual general meeting, all completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Hong
Kong branch share registrar of the Company, Tricor Standard Limited, at 26th Floor,
Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4.30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 24 August 2011.

Shareholder services
For enquiries about share transfer and registration, please contact the Company's Hong
Kong branch share registrar:

Tricor Standard Limited

26th Floor, Tesbury Centre,

28 Queen's Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2980 1768
Facsimile: (852) 2528 3158

Holders of the Company's shares should notify the Hong Kong branch share registrar
promptly of any change of addresses.

Investor relations

For enquiries relating to investor relations, please contact:

Linmark Group Limited

1123, Kowloonbay International Trade & Exhibition Centre,
1 Trademart Drive, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong
(with effect from 1 January 2011)

Telephone: (852) 2753 7373
Facsimile: (852) 2721 6554
Email: ir@linmark.com
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Linmark Group Limited

MEEEERQF
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

(REFEEMRLZBRAR)

1123, Kowloonbay International Trade & Exhibition Centre
1 Trademart Drive, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong

BENENEEREE —HRNRES

Tel E&E @ (852) 2753 7373
Fax fEE : (852) 2721 6554
http://www.linmark.com

*For identification purpose only EHER

BEEREHRL N3 FE



	Cover

	Inside Front Cover
	Contents
	Financial Highlights
	Statement of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
	Corporate Governance Report
	Report of the Directors
	Independent Auditors’ Report
	Consolidated Income Statement
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Statement of Financial Position
	Notes to the Financial Statements
	5-Year Financial Summary
	Corporate Information
	Shareholder Information
	Back Cover




